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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before I do my

          3  opening remarks, I will introduce my colleagues who

          4  are with me and members of the Committee, and of

          5  course members who are not but have an interest and

          6  have been very active in this pending legislation.

          7                 Let me also say that there are other

          8  Committee meetings going on at the same time, so

          9  that you will see members come and go. Actually this

         10  meeting was changed to this afternoon because we

         11  thought we were going to have a strike, so we are

         12  trying to catch up so just bear with us.

         13                 First let me go to my extreme left,

         14  the ranking minority member of the Council from

         15  Staten Island, Council Member Oddo, from Brooklyn.

         16  My colleague from the Bronx, South Bronx I believe,

         17  Council Member Pedro Espada, both are members of

         18  this Committee.

         19                 My colleague who is not a member of

         20  the Committee but is a prime sponsor of the pending

         21  legislation, distinguished colleague from the County

         22  of Queens, Council Member Walter McCaffrey. My dear

         23  colleague who I had the privilege of serving in the

         24  Assembly and also in this body, comes from the

         25  County of Queens, Council Member Julia Harrison. Of
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          2  course, the Counsel to my Committee Jose Orengo, and

          3  other staff people, finance, policy, and what have

          4  you.

          5                 Good afternoon, and welcome to

          6  today's hearing on Intro. 350-A. A proposed bill

          7  requiring inspections of food service

          8  establishments. This is an amended version of Intro.

          9  350, for which a hearing was held last year. Many

         10  recommendations that were voiced at that earlier

         11  hearing has been incorporated into Intro. No. 350-A.

         12                 As you may know, under the present

         13  Health Code, the Department of Health is required to

         14  inspect food service establishments; however, the

         15  Health Code is solid on the frequency of these

         16  inspections.

         17                 The Department of Health also is

         18  required to inspect all new food service

         19  establishments prior to their opening for business.

         20                 The owner of the food service

         21  establishment applies to the Department of Health

         22  for a permit, 21 days before the opening, and the

         23  Department of Health is required to inspect the food

         24  service establishment within the 21 days.

         25                 If the Department of Health does not
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          2  inspect the food service establishment within or in

          3  the 21 day time period, the restaurant can open on

          4  the 22nd day and continue to operate without a

          5  permit until the Department of Health makes an

          6  inspection, issues a permit or issues an order to

          7  cease operation for cause.

          8                 Intro. No. 350-A seeks to remedy this

          9  situation in several ways. The bill mandates the

         10  Department of Health to inspect food service

         11  establishments twice a year. It mandates a monthly

         12  release for publication in a daily newspaper of food

         13  service establishment with public health hazard

         14  violations that were not corrected, close food

         15  service establishments and reopen food service

         16  establishments.

         17                 It requires a posting of a sign that

         18  reads "passed inspection" outside the main entrance

         19  of the establishment. No new food service

         20  establishment can open without a permit.

         21                 It also requires the Department of

         22  Health to inspect within the current 21-day period.

         23  We in the Council understand that such a

         24  far-reaching bill requires funding for its

         25  implementation.
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          2                 We understand that a lot more

          3  inspectors and inspection supervisors will be needed

          4  to make Intro. No. 350-A work.

          5                 Dr. Neal Cohen, the Commissioner of

          6  Health, is here to testify and to let us know how

          7  the Administration feels toward Intro. 350-A.

          8                 We have also invited distinguished

          9  members of the food service industry who will also

         10  testify. We listened to your testimony at our last

         11  hearing, and as you can see from Intro. 350-A, we

         12  attempted to address those concerns and at the same

         13  time we tried to protect the right of the consumer.

         14                 Before I call upon Commissioner Neal

         15  Cohen, let me say we have been joined by the

         16  distinguished former Chair of this Committee,

         17  Council Member Morty Povman from Queens.

         18                 Commissioner, let me begin by

         19  welcoming you again, and in case we overlook it, on

         20  behalf of my colleagues and the Speaker and the

         21  Council, if by chance we don't see each other or

         22  talk to each other between now and the holidays, on

         23  behalf of all of my colleagues, let me express to

         24  you and to the men and women of the Department of

         25  Health sincere seasons greetings to them, and pray
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          2  and hope that the new year is one of joy and peace

          3  and please share that to them on our behalf.

          4                 Having said that, Commissioner,

          5  welcome. Would you please introduce those colleagues

          6  that are with you and also I understand you have a

          7  prepared statement, please proceed as you would like

          8  to, sir.

          9                 DR. COHEN: Thank you very much,

         10  Chairman Robles.

         11                 I am Neal Cohen, Commissioner of the

         12  Department of Health, to my far left is Mr. Bob

         13  Edmund, who is the Director of the Bureau of

         14  Inspections. To my immediate left is Dr. Benjamin

         15  Mojica, the Deputy Commissioner from the Department

         16  of Health, and to my right is Ms. Michelle Robinson,

         17  Deputy Director of the Bureau of Inspections. And in

         18  speaking to you today about Intro. 350-A, I regret

         19  that our respective staffs have not had as much

         20  opportunity to meet and discuss some of the

         21  technical issues around the current practice, as

         22  well as the proposals here, because I think that

         23  some of these concerns that are raised could have

         24  been smoothed out previously but let's try to do

         25  that now.
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          2                 I realize that food safety is an

          3  issue that this Health Committee takes very

          4  seriously, and I would like to go on record stating

          5  that we share the goal of making sure that every

          6  food service establishment permitted by the

          7  Department of Health adheres to the New York City

          8  Health Code.

          9                 As you know, the Department has made

         10  a number of important improvements in the restaurant

         11  inspection program over the past two years, it is

         12  the Administration's hope that the Council will

         13  decide to meet with us to discuss ideas concerning

         14  changes to improve food safety.

         15                 However, as my testimony will point

         16  out, we do not believe that this proposed

         17  legislation will help to achieve our common goal.

         18                 The Health Department bears primary

         19  responsibility for regulating most of the City's

         20  food service establishments, including almost 21,000

         21  restaurants, fastfood establishments, soup kitchens,

         22  certain delicatessens and school cafeterias.

         23                 For the sake of simplicity, I will

         24  refer to all of the establishments that are the

         25  primary focus of Intro. 350-A, as restaurants.
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          2                 Currently the Department regulates

          3  food safety under the authority conveyed by the City

          4  Charter, the New York City Health Code, the State

          5  Public Health Law, the State Sanitary Code and

          6  provisions of the New York City Administrative Code

          7  that focus on specific issues, such as smoking or

          8  resuscitation equipment.

          9                 Our program is also informed by the

         10  model food safety code promulgated by the Federal

         11  Food and Drug Administration, as well as

         12  recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control

         13  and Prevention and the U.S. Department of

         14  Agriculture.

         15                 Assuring the safety of the food

         16  served to the restaurant going public is a

         17  challenging and complex process.

         18                 The Department accomplishes this core

         19  public health function by inspecting food service

         20  establishments prior to issuing permits, providing a

         21  15-hour food protection course, that is required for

         22  supervisors of all food service establishments, by

         23  inspecting restaurants at regular intervals and

         24  response to complaints, by citing restaurants for

         25  violations that can lead to fines, by reinspecting
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          2  those that fail initial inspections and by closing

          3  restaurants that pose a threat to public health.

          4                 Before I begin a detailed discussion

          5  of this bill, I would like to describe our current

          6  restaurant inspection program and the significant

          7  improvements we have made during the last two years.

          8  The Department of Health's Bureau of Inspections

          9  consisting of 119 field inspector positions conducts

         10  a rigorous battery of prepermit inspections,

         11  compliance inspections, compliance-driven

         12  inspections and permit sweeps in restaurants

         13  throughout the City.

         14                 To operate a food service

         15  establishment in New York City, a restaurant must

         16  obtain a permit issued by the Department of Health

         17  which must be renewed every year. Upon application

         18  for a permit a restaurant is inspected and

         19  thereafter can expect an unannounced inspection at

         20  least once a year.

         21                 Multiple inspections for the same

         22  restaurant may be conducted in response to complaint

         23  or if a restaurant fails an inspection and requires

         24  a follow-up or compliance inspection. We have

         25  designated two major categories of violations that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  can be issued to restaurants, critical items and

          3  general items.

          4                 Critical items relate directly to the

          5  protection of the public from food-borne illness,

          6  certain critical items are so crucial that they are

          7  deemed public health hazards.

          8                 For example, if food is cooked or

          9  held out of temperature, failure to correct any and

         10  all of them immediately results in the restaurant

         11  being ordered on the spot to close and cease all

         12  food operations.

         13                 Examples of other critical violations

         14  might be not using a food thermometer or a

         15  supervisor with no protection certificate from the

         16  Department's food safety course.

         17                 General items include such things as

         18  failure to display a permit or license

         19  conspicuously.

         20                 With the exception of a few minor

         21  violations, whenever a restaurant is found to have a

         22  violation, a notice of violation or an NOV is

         23  issued.

         24                 The notice may identify one or more

         25  separate violations that each may carry a fine. The
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          2  restaurant can plead guilty and pay a fine or

          3  contest the violation or violations before the

          4  Administrative tribunal, a civil adjudicatory body

          5  staffed by hearing examiners.

          6                 Failure to appear for a hearing leads

          7  to a default and the probable imposition of higher

          8  penalties.

          9                 A restaurant that does not pay its

         10  fines cannot have its permit renewed.

         11                 Should a restaurant be cited for four

         12  or more critical items or five or more general items

         13  or both, it fails the inspection and a reinspection

         14  is scheduled.

         15                 If the restaurant then fails the

         16  reinspection, he undergoes a third compliance

         17  inspection, a third failure can lead to closure or

         18  permit revocation. NOVs are issued at each

         19  reinspection, if appropriate.

         20                 The methodology we employ to license

         21  and inspect restaurants is dynamic. Our program

         22  continues to evolve to incorporate new information

         23  in advancements in scientific knowledge. One way we

         24  have upgraded our inspectional methodology over the

         25  last decade was our adoption of the HACCP, an
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          2  acronym that stands for Hazard Analysis Critical

          3  Control Point. HACCP, which was developed in the

          4  late 1980s is a system of hazard analysis that

          5  emphasizes actively preventing hazards, rather than

          6  reactively correcting hazards after the fact.

          7                 This inspection process is rooted in

          8  and follows from the underlying public health

          9  science. Active prevention is accomplished by

         10  identifying those precise points and food service

         11  operations where loss of control will result in

         12  unacceptable health risks, and then monitoring those

         13  points.

         14                 For example, how well a restaurant

         15  keeps hot foods hot and cold foods cold is second to

         16  no other factor in preventing dangerous microbial

         17  contamination of food. Because temperature control

         18  violations are most likely to be associated with

         19  food-borne illnesses, temperature control is given

         20  the highest scrutiny. That is the essence of a HACCP

         21  approach.

         22                 During the calendar year 1998, the

         23  Department inspected 99 percent of all active

         24  restaurants at least once, and we expect to have

         25  inspected virtually all restaurants in the City at
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          2  least once during calendar year 1999.

          3                 We performed a total of 22,266

          4  initial inspections of all food service

          5  establishments in FY '99. We issued NOVs to 15,314

          6  restaurants. And of these, 4,351 restaurants failed

          7  their initial inspection; that is, they had four

          8  critical and/or five general violations, and were

          9  reinspected.

         10                 By all reasonable measures, our

         11  inspection program is working well, but we continue

         12  to strive for even greater improvements in the

         13  system. During the last few years we have instituted

         14  a number of important changes that will further

         15  enhance our system.

         16                 For example, we have begun to

         17  institute a new two-tiered inspectional schedule

         18  designed to target those restaurants most needing

         19  increased scrutiny. Specifically we will put all

         20  restaurants that fail two consecutive inspections on

         21  a twice a year inspection schedule, instead of the

         22  once yearly cycle that is currently the norm.

         23                 Once a restaurant is placed on the

         24  twice a year schedule, it will remain on that

         25  schedule until it passes two consecutive inspections
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          2  at which time it will be returned to the approximate

          3  -- returned to the once a year schedule.

          4                 Based on current inspection failure

          5  rates, approximately 4,300 or 21 percent of the

          6  approximately 20,600 restaurants will then incur

          7  serious enough violations to fail their initial

          8  inspection and warrant reinspection.

          9                 Of these, about 1,375 restaurants

         10  will fail there reinspections. Now we believe that

         11  this is an effective use of inspection resources,

         12  since it will bring about increased compliance from

         13  restaurants that have repeated problems passing

         14  inspection.

         15                 We have also instituted a permanent

         16  late shift of public health sanitarians. This

         17  enhancement enables the Department to better monitor

         18  restaurants whose hours of operation fall outside

         19  the normal work day and work week.  Having late

         20  shift inspectors also enables us to more effectively

         21  enforce the smoke-free air act in restaurants, since

         22  we can concentrate our efforts during the nighttime

         23  hours when smoking violations are more common.

         24                 The late shift extends our

         25  inspectional reach to an important area. We have
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          2  also focused on improving the knowledge and training

          3  of restaurant workers. We have increased the

          4  capacity and availability of the food protection

          5  course required for each restaurant supervisor of

          6  food preparation. The Department's health academy is

          7  now offering training courses in English three times

          8  a week rather than twice a week. Classes in Chinese

          9  and Spanish are offered twice a month, and classes

         10  in Korean and Greek once a month.

         11                 For added convenience courses are

         12  also now being offered on weekends at the Borough of

         13  Manhattan Community College and at Queens College.

         14                 This year we also began publishing a

         15  biannual newsletter to remind food service

         16  establishments of current requirements and advise

         17  them of any changes in policies, laws and

         18  regulations.

         19                 The Department is also increasing

         20  public access to restaurant inspection reports

         21  through a number of vehicles. We have made the

         22  latest inspection for any restaurant available to

         23  the general public by calling our central

         24  information and complaints line, that is 442-9666.

         25  Callers may order up to five inspection reports free
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          2  of charge.

          3                 The Department is also planning to

          4  post information on restaurant inspections on its

          5  Internet web site within the next few months.

          6                 The Board of Health recently approved

          7  the change in the City's Health Code that requires

          8  all restaurants to display a sign, instructing

          9  patrons so they can obtain a copy of the inspection

         10  report from the Health Department, simply by

         11  calling.

         12                 Signs were mailed to all food service

         13  establishments during the summer and are available

         14  through the Citywide licensing center, as well as

         15  the Health Academy and the Bureau of Inspections.

         16                 Every inspection now includes

         17  checking to see that the sign is posted.

         18                 These avenues will enable interested

         19  patrons to readily see for themselves the results of

         20  restaurant inspections.

         21                 I must note, though, that the

         22  inspection report captures only a particular moment

         23  in time. It cannot in and of itself present a total

         24  picture of an establishment's public health fitness.

         25  It would be wrong to interpret the inspection report
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          2  as a final grade for a restaurant. For one thing,

          3  some restaurants correct violations quickly and see

          4  that they are not repeated. For another, the

          5  violation cited in the inspection reports have not

          6  yet been adjudicated. With these limitations in

          7  mind, however, we have seen to it that the

          8  interested public has maximum access to these

          9  inspection reports.

         10                 The measures I have outlined will

         11  strengthen our inspection program in a targeted and

         12  rational approach that will assure maximum benefit

         13  from resource enhancements.

         14                 I would like to now share with you

         15  the reasons for our opposition to the major

         16  provisions of Intro. 350-A.

         17                 First, as I stated before, Intro.

         18  350-A, by requiring that all restaurants be

         19  inspected at least once in every six-month period,

         20  would not focus increased resources on problem

         21  restaurants that pose a potential health risk.

         22                 Changing the regular inspection cycle

         23  from once yearly to twice yearly would force the

         24  Department to put twice as many resources into all

         25  restaurants across the board, irrespective of
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          2  individual track records. Doubling of the overall

          3  workload would not target restaurants for the

          4  history of violations.

          5                 This provision alone would require a

          6  near doubling of the number of restaurant inspectors

          7  imposing significant additional costs to the program

          8  without substantial improvement in public health

          9  protection over the program that we are instituting

         10  to target problem restaurants.

         11                 Moreover, by inflexibly cutting the

         12  inspection cycle in half in a year to six months,

         13  the bill would force the Department to deploy the

         14  inspection workforce to meet arbitrarily set

         15  deadlines twice as often at the end of a six-month

         16  period. This would increase inefficiencies in our

         17  system of Citywide coverage as we would be required

         18  to schedule inspections of restaurants twice as

         19  often within a much narrower time frame.

         20                 Intro. 350-A would also require us to

         21  conduct a surprise inspection within five days of

         22  our issuing an NOV for public health hazards, and if

         23  the hazards still exist, to issue an additional NOV

         24  and to conduct another surprise inspection within

         25  three days.
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          2                 Our current procedures are already

          3  much tougher than the one proposed because we

          4  require immediate correction of any public health

          5  hazard that we identify during our inspection, which

          6  is always a surprise inspection, or else we close

          7  the restaurant on the spot. Our tolerance threshold

          8  is deliberately set very low when it comes to

          9  defining a public health hazard.

         10                 As an example, the finding of even

         11  one hamburger or piece of chicken not held at the

         12  proper temperature range, automatically constitutes

         13  a public health hazard, even though the violation is

         14  corrected immediately, the restaurant is still

         15  issued an NOV, which usually results in a fine.

         16                 We almost always obtain the immediate

         17  correction, often requiring the food establishment

         18  to discard food at significant cost to them.

         19                 We believe that the requirement in

         20  Intro. 350-A would add to our workload

         21  unnecessarily, requiring approximately 6,000

         22  additional follow-up inspections for each cycle of

         23  initial inspections. This is above and beyond the

         24  doubling of inspections of all restaurants called

         25  for by the bill.
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          2                 Therefore, while we can carry out

          3  immediate follow-up for egregious circumstances that

          4  are warranted, the logistics required to receive

          5  inspection reports from the field, schedule five-day

          6  and three-day follow-ups and reallocate field

          7  personnel on a wide scale would be onerous and

          8  wasteful.

          9                 Currently most inspectors come in

         10  from the field only once weekly to effect five and

         11  three day return inspections we would have to bring

         12  them in almost daily with a great loss of

         13  productivity.

         14                 And finally, one has to question

         15  whether there would be any element of surprise since

         16  the narrow time frame is so clearly stated in the

         17  law.

         18                 We believe that our proposal to focus

         19  additional inspections on restaurants that fail two

         20  consecutive inspections is much more effective,

         21  efficient and productive approach to ensure the

         22  safety of food in restaurants.

         23                 Second, the bill would require the

         24  Department to integrate into the very complex system

         25  now in place, a number of resource intensive

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  administrative requirements, duties and functions.

          3  Again, these new administrative requirements do not

          4  contribute to the core public health function of

          5  ensuring food safety to the restaurant going public.

          6                 Intro. 350-A would also require a

          7  complex set of activities surrounding both the

          8  posting of and the removal of a passed inspection

          9  sign, when a restaurant receives a first inspection

         10  after the enactment of the bill and corrects all

         11  violations and pays all fines emanating from that

         12  inspection, the inspector will issue the passed

         13  inspection sign to be posted at the entrance.

         14                 The sign would have to be taken down

         15  by a supervisor or by a commissioner's order upon

         16  the finding of a public health hazard and then

         17  reissued upon correction of the hazard and payment

         18  of fines.

         19                 This requirement introduces a legion

         20  of problems, but the most fundamental is the

         21  substantively false message that would be conveyed

         22  by the display of what may be viewed as a Health

         23  Department seal of approval.

         24                 Such a symbol would lead many people

         25  to believe that there is a precise measure of food
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          2  safety and cleanliness evidenced by this symbol, and

          3  such a message has no real basis in public health

          4  science.

          5                 Moreover, the prominent display of

          6  the seal of approval required by the bill would

          7  likely serve also to lull the restaurant operator

          8  into relaxing food safety practices, particularly

          9  since only an egregious violation would lead to the

         10  sign's removal.

         11                 The bill requires that a restaurant

         12  have absolutely no violation, regardless of how

         13  minor, or outstanding fines, in order to first post

         14  a passed inspection sign, but once received, it

         15  could continue to display the sign, as long as it

         16  did not subsequently receive a public health hazard

         17  violation.

         18                 This system would seriously conflict

         19  with our current policy where four or more critical

         20  violations, and/or five general violations

         21  constitute a failure, whether or not they include a

         22  public health hazard.

         23                 Since we do not now reinspect a

         24  restaurant unless it receives violations that do

         25  meet this failure threshold, the bill would have us
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          2  initially reinspect the 75 percent of restaurants

          3  that currently receive some violation in order to

          4  receive a passed inspection sign.

          5                 Illogically, under this bill, a

          6  restaurant could then fail subsequent inspections,

          7  but continue to display the passed inspection sign,

          8  as long as it did not receive a public health hazard

          9  violation.

         10                 In addition, this signage requirement

         11  suggests other large scale problems. It is easily

         12  abused and difficult to enforce.

         13                 Additional resources would likely

         14  have to be devoted to sweeps, to assure compliance.

         15  The requirement that the sign be removed only by a

         16  supervisor or by a commissioner's order would diver

         17  supervisory resources to the field unnecessarily,

         18  and would increase the paperwork burden from the

         19  part of high level supervisory staff and legal

         20  staff.

         21                 And since the vast majority of public

         22  health hazards are corrected on the spot, presumably

         23  signs would only be removed until fines resulting

         24  from the NOV have been paid.

         25                 This system would create some chaos
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          2  and some confusion, as actions are delayed to take

          3  into account the time to schedule administrative

          4  tribunal hearings and to adjudicate violations,

          5  clear checks for payment for fines, et cetera, and

          6  it would introduce an impossible degree of

          7  complexity to the system and significantly increase

          8  the administrative burden on the Department, without

          9  appreciable benefit to the public.

         10                 We believe our proposal to make

         11  inspection reports available on request and through

         12  an Internet web site will paint a more accurate

         13  picture of a restaurant's record and will be a much

         14  more effective way of informing the public about

         15  individual restaurants at much lower cost, and

         16  without the administrative burden, red tape and

         17  confusion that this provision would create.

         18                 Intro. 350-A would require that at

         19  least once a month three lists of restaurants be

         20  disseminated to at least one daily newspaper, other

         21  than the City Record. Restaurants found to have a

         22  public health hazard violation that were not

         23  corrected by the time of subsequent inspections,

         24  restaurants closed for public health safety reasons,

         25  and restaurants closed for public health safety
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          2  reasons and now reopened.

          3                 Again, the requirement would impose

          4  another substantial and ongoing administrative

          5  burden on the Department and would duplicate

          6  information already available to the public.

          7                 New Yorkers can already get a copy of

          8  the most recent inspection report for any restaurant

          9  simply by calling the Department of Health, and

         10  there will soon be an Internet access to restaurant

         11  inspection information as well.

         12                 As I outlined at the onset a third

         13  and even more fundamental problem presented by

         14  Intro. 350-A, is that it would substitute rigid

         15  legislation for more flexible regulation.

         16                 The bill not only conflicts with

         17  current provisions of the City Health Code and State

         18  law, but presents endless opportunities for future

         19  conflicts and confusion as the City's Health Code,

         20  State Sanitary Code and others laws and regulations

         21  are revised over time.

         22                 In 1996, the Department with the

         23  approval of the Board of Health completed a

         24  painstaking revision of Article 81 of the New York

         25  City Health Code, which governs regulation of food
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          2  service establishments.

          3                 This exhaustive effort entailed a

          4  careful legal, technical and scientific analysis of

          5  literally hundreds of passengers in various laws and

          6  regulations. Comparison among them and careful

          7  rewriting of the article as necessary to modernize

          8  it while maintaining consistency among the various

          9  bodies of law.

         10                 Intro. 350-A would unravel that

         11  fabric of overlapping interrelated law, unless it

         12  incorporates by reference all of the applicable

         13  elements of Article 81 of the City Health Code.

         14                 For example, Intro. 350-A would add a

         15  new section to the Administrative Code containing a

         16  definition of food service establishments that is

         17  different from the New York City Health Codes

         18  definition, and that conflicts with the State

         19  Sanitary Code and Agricultural and Markets Law. An

         20  immediate problem is that the definition runs

         21  counter to the MOU entered into between the State

         22  Department of Health, the State Department of

         23  Agriculture and Markets, which determines

         24  responsibility over establishments that have

         25  operations but may fall under the responsibilities

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  of both State Departments.

          3                 Under this agreement, for example,

          4  local Public Health Departments have jurisdiction

          5  over a delicatessen or a grocery store only if 50

          6  percent or more of its annual receipts are derived

          7  from either on-premises consumption of off-premises

          8  consumption of ready-to-eat foods.

          9                 Section 17-179 of this bill would

         10  therefore require the City Department of Health to

         11  regulate certain food retail food stores that are

         12  currently regulated by the State Department of

         13  Agriculture and Markets, and which we are preempted

         14  from regulating.

         15                 In order to avoid these kind of

         16  difficulties now and in the future as definitions

         17  change, the bill should merely reference food

         18  service establishments as defined in the New York

         19  City Health Code.

         20                 These are just some of the technical

         21  problems in the language of the bill, however, I

         22  hope these examples will give you some idea of why

         23  we feel it is unwise to legislate in such detail in

         24  an area that is so dynamic and complex as the

         25  regulation of food service establishments.
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          2                 Furthermore, I would urge you to

          3  consider that the enormous increase in resources

          4  that this bill will demand is out of proportion to

          5  the benefits it would provide.

          6                 I sincerely believe we can accomplish

          7  these improvements to more meaningful, efficient and

          8  economical means that I have described, and I would

          9  certainly be glad to answer any questions you have.

         10                 Commissioner, let me also acknowledge

         11  the Chair of the Subcommittee on Mental Health,

         12  Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services, Council

         13  Member Una Clarke, from Brooklyn.

         14                 Do I pronounce your name right, so

         15  you don't get mad at me?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good, okay. I

         18  just want to make sure I don't get caught in that

         19  little trivial stuff.

         20                 Commissioner, let me just walk

         21  through your testimony, because I have some

         22  concerns, and then I will open it up to my

         23  colleagues and again, I will first yield to members

         24  of the Committee and then, of course, my colleagues

         25  who are not happy to have them also participate.
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          2                 Let me make sure I understand what I

          3  heard from you, sir.

          4                 Did I hear you say that the

          5  Administration is prepared to work with this

          6  Committee and this body to come forward with a

          7  meaningful piece of legislation? Is that what I

          8  heard?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I said at the

         10  outset that I regretted that staffers from both the

         11  Council and the Mayor's Office of Legislative

         12  Affairs have not carried out sufficient background

         13  discussion. I believe I was advised that they did

         14  reach out to do this and as a result, we didn't

         15  really arrive at the compatibility of the technical

         16  language that is in this proposed legislation that I

         17  believe is necessary.

         18                 Again, I certainly am committed to

         19  improve the public health and safety and we are

         20  working on improving the restaurant inspection

         21  program and we welcome any opportunity to do even a

         22  better job.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: With respect to

         24  the Council and staff and as Chairman of this

         25  Committee, I am prepared to take full responsibility
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          2  and I will admit for the record that unfortunately

          3  around here a lot of things happen so fast, you

          4  know, closing of dental clinics and other things

          5  that sometimes distract us and we get so involved

          6  with other hearings that maybe I will see that since

          7  our last hearing we did not have follow-up meetings

          8  with the Administration and our staff.

          9                 But I want to make sure I am hearing

         10  correctly, because I have been in this body for 15

         11  years. I came from a State Legislature and I always

         12  love people who tell me as a legislator, because I

         13  know my role and I know your role, and I always love

         14  when they tell me about legislation and what we

         15  should do and how we should improve it, but then

         16  when we work towards a meaningful understanding, and

         17  Matt, don't worry, I haven't gotten to you yet, I

         18  want to make sure I understand because I must tell

         19  you that while I will accept the fact that there has

         20  been, the kind of dialogue that you and I and the

         21  Mayor's Office are used to doing, especially this

         22  chair, both on this Committee and when I was Youth

         23  Services, I believe that I have always moved with a

         24  consent or mutual working relationship and maybe in

         25  this case there has been a gap in between, but I
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          2  want to make sure I understand what I heard here.

          3                 Are you saying to me that the

          4  Administration is ready to work with this body to

          5  have a meaningful piece of legislation to be passed

          6  and signed by the Mayor?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I believe we have

          8  to clarify, in order to maintain the strongest --

          9  what can be accomplished administratively, because

         10  as I spoke to you before in my testimony, there are

         11  a number of programmatic enhancements that we are

         12  carrying out now that I am not convinced need to be

         13  legislated so much as being part of the regulations

         14  and administrative protocol of the agency. That is

         15  something that I think sometimes the lawyers can

         16  best advise us because of the way in which the

         17  various federal state codes and laws apply to what

         18  we are trying to accomplish.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, let

         20  me tell you where I am having a little problem, and

         21  I will tell you that I am a little disappointed but,

         22  hey, tis the season so I am going to be nice this

         23  time.

         24                 The fact is, when I took over this

         25  Committee as Chair your agency did not have these
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          2  promulgated Board of Health enforcement like they

          3  should have, although the law said they were

          4  supposed to, it was this Committee for two years who

          5  had been consistent on this after a series of

          6  articles and constant embarrassment publicly by the

          7  media about how we that have on the books to protect

          8  the public health, somehow it was falling through

          9  the cracks. And I must tell you, and I will say and

         10  I have said this to the staff people and the

         11  institution, that while we have been so busy trying

         12  to be so nice people, you have gotten a heads up on

         13  us because you went through the Board of Health,

         14  and, for example, I am happy to see you are

         15  inspecting once a year. You were not inspecting once

         16  a year, with all due respect. So there are things

         17  you did administratively. It wasn't because you

         18  wanted to do it, it was because of the pressure that

         19  was put on you both by the media and this

         20  institution, so I want to make sure -- you know, I

         21  am willing to work with you, but I am not going to

         22  spend my time here and then play this kind of game

         23  here and then all of a sudden we think we have an

         24  understanding of a bill, so I am not going to be the

         25  bad guy and then you look good. I didn't create this
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          2  problem, you did.

          3                 Let me also point out on page two,

          4  and I am not a lawyer like you, but I have been

          5  around long enough to know the difference between

          6  may and shall.

          7                 Look where it says that, "should a

          8  restaurant be cited for four or more critical items,

          9  or five or more general items, or both, it fails the

         10  inspection and a reinspection is scheduled, if the

         11  restaurant then fails the reinspection, it undergoes

         12  a third compliance inspection, a third failure" --

         13  it doesn't say shall it says, oh, "can lead to

         14  closure or permit revoking."

         15                 You know, let me go to back on page

         16  three.

         17                 You said that in Fiscal Year, at

         18  least, I guess it is Fiscal Year '99, 15,300

         19  restaurants were cited for, or were issued Notice of

         20  Violations. You went on to say that of those 4,351

         21  restaurants failed the initial inspection, and then

         22  you went on to say that they had four critical

         23  and/or five general and was reinspected, if you

         24  looked further down as you went into it, of the 21

         25  percent that they are talking about, the 4,300,
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          2  before the numbers, how many of those 22,000

          3  performed restaurants fell under that category that

          4  you referred that you will not tolerate, and if you

          5  walk in and the temperature, and I think it was the

          6  temperature, whatever it was, the hamburgers were

          7  discussed here, and I don't know that you would

          8  immediately close them down; how many of those did

          9  you do, sir?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I let you know

         11  that in calendar year 1999, there were 127 food

         12  service establishments that were closed because of

         13  repeated failure to meet our inspection standards,

         14  and there were an additionally 51 that were closed

         15  immediately because of the nature of the

         16  unacceptable health standard and health practice in

         17  that facility without allowing them reinspection at

         18  that time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I suggest

         20  in the future if you are going to put that into your

         21  testimony maybe I won't ask you the question.

         22                 That's okay, but there are still 51,

         23  I didn't even know they closed any of them.

         24                 Commissioner, last year one of the

         25  issues that was raised in the oversight here was the
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          2  following, allegedly the Department, a restaurant

          3  establishment -- well, let me get away from that

          4  terminology, let's say -- what is the word I am

          5  trying to find? Food services establishment cannot

          6  open unless you inspect them, and you have 21 days.

          7  Yet it says that after the 21 days if you fail to

          8  expect them, they can operate until you finally

          9  inspect them. How many of those food service

         10  establishments in 1998 did you have that requested

         11  to open? How many of those waited 21 days, and then

         12  after 21 days they continued to operate without a

         13  license or a permit?

         14                 Just identify yourself for the record

         15  again.

         16                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes. My name is

         17  Michelle Robinson, I am the Deputy Director for the

         18  Bureau of Inspections.

         19                 Under those strict guidelines, I

         20  don't have that information for you, but what I do

         21  have for you, that would at least give some

         22  enlightenment, is that we did a sample of those

         23  restaurants that applied for a permit in 1999 and we

         24  used the sample of 1,391 food service establishments

         25  that applied for a permit.
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          2                 We found that the Department of

          3  Health actually got into 73.3 percent of the food

          4  service establishments within 21 days, and 26.7

          5  establishments which was 372 were not in the 21-day

          6  period and were allowed to operate without a permit.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: This is calendar

          8  year or fiscal year?

          9                 MS. ROBINSON: Calendar year '99.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So how many are

         11  operating now because you failed not to go within 21

         12  days?

         13                 MS. ROBINSON: That information I

         14  don't have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You don't have.

         16                 You see, that is the kind of thing

         17  that I think is important. This is not a new issue.

         18                 Now, if you are doing such a great

         19  job, and I am not saying you are not, then I won't

         20  be asking you these questions.

         21                 One more thing and then I will ask my

         22  colleagues.

         23                 Commissioner, when you came before us

         24  last year, the Internet was incorporated in your

         25  testimony that you were going to have it up and
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          2  running within the next two weeks. A year from that

          3  date you are coming back and you are telling me, oh,

          4  as a matter of fact, the Department also claims to

          5  post information on restaurant inspection on its

          6  Internet site within the next few months? What

          7  happened since last year, since that was supposed to

          8  be the answer to the newspaper. Because if you

          9  remember last year the original bill, not the

         10  amended bill, and, you know, I always love the

         11  hypocrisies that go around here.

         12                 Do you remember what this is?

         13                 Sergeant-At-Arms, where are you? Give

         14  this to the Commissioner, please.

         15                 Do you remember my scenario last year

         16  about how when I grew up in Williamsburg and then I

         17  became a bigshot because I was elected to the State

         18  Assembly, and some of the people sitting there from

         19  that establishment used to lobby me and I used to be

         20  a good friend, now they hate me because I have this

         21  bill before me?

         22                 In the meantime, Pete, I see you

         23  there.

         24                 You know, I remember-- and in my

         25  district, when I got elected in my district, I mean
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          2  this is just an add-on because in the body, but in

          3  my district I used to take this listing that your

          4  Department in a press release used to send out to

          5  the media, you didn't force them to print it, you

          6  didn't force them to pick it up, you didn't pay them

          7  but they used to print it. It didn't cost us

          8  anything. And, so, I used to look at my -- at least

          9  in Brooklyn, and you can see it has been a long time

         10  since this one was done, but the point is that when

         11  I used to see restaurants in my district that were

         12  listed for health violation, excuse me, I used to

         13  tell the world. Let my constituents decide whether

         14  they want to still patronize that restaurant or not.

         15  Because, you see, you watch out because you will get

         16  like the Police Department.

         17                 When you allow a few apples to get

         18  rotten away, then the whole bushel gets blamed for

         19  something that, like you said, most law-abiding and

         20  carrying out their responsibility, but it is that

         21  few that sometimes hurts and industry.

         22                 Now, what is the problem that

         23  everybody is having with what used to be? This is

         24  not new. And since when did the City record become

         25  the newspaper?
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          2                 And I must admit, and I am going to

          3  confess in front of Crosswalks, because I know I am

          4  going to see myself on 74 and all of that stuff, and

          5  that you know, that it passed here and passed there,

          6  which agency is before, they are the ones who read

          7  the City Record, but the average John Doe, at least

          8  where I come from they get Notierco ElMundo, they

          9  get the Post, the Daily News, Newsweek or Newsday,

         10  although they went to Queens, they used to be in

         11  Brooklyn, I never see them ask me for the City

         12  Record.

         13                 Now, I am only saying that because I

         14  accept as the responsible member of this body

         15  presiding, that the City Record is the official

         16  newspaper of the City, that, I accept that. I left

         17  out the Caribbean Newspaper, you know, the 40th.

         18                 Anyway, I just wanted perhaps to hear

         19  why is it that your agency, and I must say before

         20  you tell me it was David Dinkins, it wasn't David

         21  Dinkins, it goes back to when John Lindsay was

         22  Mayor, he was a Republican, people forget. Why is it

         23  that Lindsay, Koch, and I guess it was up to maybe

         24  David Dinkins that all of a sudden it stopped.

         25                 So, what is the problem with your
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          2  agency putting out a press release, like you used to

          3  do, I mean I am trying to find a compromise here.

          4  Maybe this is not the place but I am looking forward

          5  to these one-to-one mutual meetings, but what is the

          6  problem with what used to be?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: As you recall,

          8  Councilman, in the late 1980s there was the

          9  awareness that a very significant percentage of the

         10  inspection force were accepting bribes from

         11  restaurants in order to avoid appearing on these

         12  lists, and it was decided at that time that the

         13  publication on this list created undue pressures on

         14  City employees faced with the reaction of the

         15  restaurant industry to seeing the -- I mean, the

         16  reaction of individuals, individual offenders, to

         17  seeing their restaurants listed in those newspapers

         18  that it was in the interest of quality control that

         19  we move away from what used to be called the rat

         20  list to looking to improve the quality of the

         21  inspection program and the comprehensiveness of the

         22  inspection program without relying on this media

         23  exposure.

         24                 Now, I also --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let's stick to
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          2  that.

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I mean that is

          4  historically --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I accept that,

          6  but you know what that tells me?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: When you and I

          8  were children in the City and we used to read this

          9  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, but I am an

         11  adult now and you are too and you are a Commissioner

         12  and I am the Chairman of this Committee, let me tell

         13  me what my problem I have with that. You know what

         14  that tells me? And you are not the Police

         15  Department, but that means that somehow they are not

         16  being supervised properly.

         17                 That means, like in the Police

         18  Department when you have a sergeant for ten police

         19  officers, and when they are out there, somebody

         20  supervises their work, that tells me and that is the

         21  negotiations that if you are really sincere about

         22  coming to a middle ground, we better deal with it.

         23                 I am not going to accept the excuse

         24  of corruption as the means of not legislatively

         25  doing what I believe is correct.
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          2                 So, that if your inspectors are out

          3  there and no one is supervising them, that is where

          4  corruption kicks in. You know, when the cat is away,

          5  the mice must play.

          6                 So, I want to be clear, and that is

          7  why I force the issue to be put on the table and

          8  discuss it.

          9                 If your inspectors were properly

         10  being supervised on the work that they do because

         11  they promulgate or they carry out important, you

         12  know, Health Codes, and if they knew somebody was

         13  going to check their work and make sure in this

         14  checks and balances, then I think that maybe --

         15  corruption will always be. I mean, I am not going to

         16  be a fool and say that all of a sudden there is not

         17  going to be corruption.

         18                 Now, if that is your concern, and

         19  everybody has Internets. I am sorry, I yield to you.

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I want to agree

         21  with you that there was a supervisory issue at that

         22  time that led to this, and the Department in the

         23  '90s has continuously taken very strong

         24  anti-corruption measures that are largely routed in

         25  the quality of the supervision. So, the oversight of
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          2  the inspection force is very different today from

          3  what it was a decade ago, and there are a number of

          4  anti-corruption measures, for example, that we would

          5  not allow a public health -- we have teams of

          6  sanitarians who go together whenever there is a

          7  compliance and closing inspection, that the

          8  sanitarians are not given advance listings of the

          9  restaurants that they would be inspecting so that

         10  there wouldn't be any opportunity to possibly

         11  encourage that kind of relationship, and a number of

         12  other anti-corruption activities.

         13                 So, I don't want to leave the Council

         14  with the impression that we haven't responded

         15  appropriately to this concern that is highlighted --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, I want to

         17  raise two issues and then suggest something, and

         18  maybe this is for this so-called dialogue of both

         19  the Administration and the Council and when we have

         20  meetings. But let me say this: When you put this

         21  so-called reporting, inspection reporting on the

         22  Internet, wouldn't that be a mechanism where people

         23  also picks up when an inspection was held and what

         24  was the outcome of it?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, it would.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, what is your

          3  feeling as we move forward with a bill that maybe we

          4  should explore in this legislation mandating a

          5  24-hour hot line for any owner who is being shaken

          6  down by a public servant who took an oath to report

          7  it confidentially without any reprisal of the owner

          8  so that we then weed out the corruption, if that is

          9  the case?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I certainly have

         11  no problem with that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         13                 Would any member of the Committee

         14  like to ask a question before I call on the Council

         15  Member?

         16                 Council Member Oddo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 Welcome, Commissioner. As the

         20  Chairman pointed out that he is not an attorney, I

         21  am an attorney, but that doesn't mean that we as

         22  attorneys don't like to reduce things to their

         23  simplest terms, so let me see if I understand the

         24  gist of what your inspection program is today. You

         25  are focusing I think what all of us frankly can say
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          2  are limited resources on those restaurants that have

          3  demonstrated problems in the past. That is to say,

          4  those restaurants who receive, or fail two

          5  consecutive inspections will then be put on a

          6  heightened inspection rate.

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You testified

          9  that you have 100 inspectors today, if this

         10  legislation was to pass, how many more inspectors

         11  would you imagine you would need to hire?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before you answer

         13  that, I just want to make sure we don't get

         14  misunderstood with the numbers.

         15                 Commissioner, you have 119

         16  inspectors, but they are not assigned solely for

         17  food inspections, correct?

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: Correct. The Bureau of

         19  Inspections perform other inspections.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And the 119 is

         21  your total inspection force, that also does schools,

         22  that also does lead poisoning, that does other

         23  things? I mean, not lead poisoning, that also does

         24  schools? That 119 has other responsibilities to

         25  carry out. For example, selling cigarettes to
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          2  minors, which we just had a report not long ago, you

          3  know. So, the duties of those 119 is not just in

          4  terms of inspection of food establishments, but

          5  rather that is your total number; is that correct?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Although, the

          9  cigarette sales to minors is carried out by the

         10  Department of Consumer Affairs.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: In collaboration

         12  with the Department of Health, right?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. But not our

         14  inspectors. It is their enforcement agents.

         15                 Look, there is no question that the

         16  number of inspectors is a finite number. I am

         17  pleased to say that the Administration has supported

         18  our requests in the last two years to enhance the

         19  inspection for us, as we have fought for new

         20  initiatives to improve the inspection program.

         21                 So, for example, as we have gone

         22  through this two-tier program that Council Member

         23  Oddo just asked me about, we did see an enhancement

         24  of an additional workforce because we anticipated

         25  approximately 1,400 additional inspections that
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          2  would have to be carried out annually, as we have

          3  gone to having evening and weekend shifts to be sure

          4  that we are inspecting those restaurants that aren't

          5  opening until late evening hours and weekends, we

          6  have additional staffing enhancements as well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Can the

          8  Department give an estimate on how many additional

          9  inspectors would be needed if the legislation was --

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, this

         11  particular 350-A is proposing that every restaurant

         12  be on a six-month cycle, so given that -- and that

         13  would appear to be approximately -- that could be a

         14  doubling of the workforce, because in my testimony,

         15  it is not only the increased frequency, the

         16  six-month timetable, but also the five days and the

         17  three days of surprise inspections and those numbers

         18  would have to be calculated, reestimated, maybe

         19  6,000 additional inspections in that alone, so we

         20  could be talking about a doubling of the inspection

         21  force.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner, if

         23  I read your testimony on the bottom of page six,

         24  conceivably a restaurant could fail an inspection

         25  but not receive a public health violation, yet
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          2  continue to post a sign that says passing grade.

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I am offering you

          4  my interpretation of 350-A, and if I am incorrect I

          5  am prepared to be stand corrected. But it requires

          6  that each restaurant have a clean record, if you

          7  will, before they would initially receive the past

          8  inspection sign, but then in an ongoing fashion, the

          9  passed inspection sign is only withdrawn if they

         10  receive a public health hazard violation, which

         11  means that going forward you are proposing to impose

         12  a different standard that is less rigorous than the

         13  standard that you started with in inquiring that

         14  each restaurant have no violations even of a more

         15  minor less severe nature.

         16                 So, it seems inconsistent with the

         17  intention of what the legislation is hoping to

         18  accomplish.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

         20  one last area. Does the Department still give you

         21  violations for lack of -- signage violations, lack

         22  of signs being posted and permits being posted?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, those are in

         24  the general category --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, if an
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          2  inspection was made and a restaurant had five of

          3  those violations --

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Five or more

          5  general in that category that includes signage would

          6  also constitute a failure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, if one

          8  particular restaurant has an inspection and receives

          9  five violations, could theoretically they receive

         10  five violations on signage alone? Are there that

         11  many sign requirements per restaurant or no?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, they are

         13  treated as one. It is treated as one category of

         14  violations.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: All right. Thank

         16  you, Commissioner.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         18  Clarke.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Commissioner,

         20  I know you have read the bill and if you would just

         21  kindly describe for us from your assessment of the

         22  bills what are its strengths on one side, what are

         23  the weaknesses on the other side? Because as I read

         24  your testimony, I can see all of what you don't want

         25  but I don't hear of any of the things that you want
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          2  that would help to strengthen the work that you do,

          3  and I hope that it is not, to the persons here who

          4  are restaurateurs ever think that we are legislating

          5  you out of business - never. Nobody eats out more

          6  than these elected officials, but we want to make

          7  sure that when we eat, we are eating in places that

          8  are healthy for us.

          9                 First of all, give us the strengths.

         10  What are the things you would want to go with?

         11  Commissioner, you didn't bring your counsel to

         12  analyzed this bill for us so we would know --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That is the

         14  counsel right there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Oh, Mr.

         16  Counsel, you are here.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me

         18  acknowledge my colleague from Manhattan, Chris

         19  Quinn, who is a member of this Committee, has joined

         20  us.

         21                 Okay, Commissioner.

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I certainly

         23  can support the spirit and intention to strengthen

         24  the quality of the inspection program by maintaining

         25  close monitoring of food service establishments. It
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          2  is our view, though, that by maintaining a

          3  predetermined standard, that would require such

          4  major resources invested in inspections of those

          5  restaurants that don't seem to require that level of

          6  focus, that our priorities are misspent, that a more

          7  targeted risk reduction and risk management approach

          8  is more consistent with good public practice, and

          9  that is what we have attempted to do this year as we

         10  move forward and we have implemented our two-tier

         11  model.

         12                 Something I didn't clarify in the

         13  testimony that I should is that when we go back six

         14  months later, we have a heightened methodology for

         15  closing. So, while previously we afford the

         16  restaurants an opportunity to come into compliance

         17  when they fail the first inspection, we move more

         18  quickly. If they come back six months later and they

         19  still meet a failure threshold, we move immediately

         20  to closing, so that the next inspection is a closing

         21  inspection, not a compliance inspection. So, the

         22  number of visits that the restaurant will be able to

         23  receive before being closed is reduced

         24  significantly, and then we would go to the

         25  Administrative tribunal and in most instances
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          2  request consideration of suspension and revocation

          3  of the permit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Commissioner,

          5  my question was the strengths and the weaknesses of

          6  the bill, what parts of the bill did you want to go

          7  with, what parts of the bill seems so objectionable?

          8                 One, because I don't know that we

          9  would sit on this side of the hall, just write a

         10  piece of legislation, without thinking of the

         11  welfare of both the industry or the businesses that

         12  would be affected by it, including protecting the

         13  health of those persons who use restaurants, and I

         14  am sure that before coming here today, both

         15  yourself, your counsel, your team and inspectors

         16  must have looked at what are the strengths and what

         17  are the weaknesses.

         18                 I hear all of your objections, but I

         19  don't hear all of what you would like to go with,

         20  and that is where I am.

         21                 And then my follow-up question would

         22  be, during the workforce reduction, how many of your

         23  inspectors took a buy-out for whom you could not

         24  replace, because the number you are talking about,

         25  you are now saying you would have to double the
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          2  numbers? And so I just want to get a lay of the land

          3  here of what are we working with?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I am informed

          5  that the opportunity for that buy-out was not made

          6  to the public health sanitarian, so it didn't impact

          7  on the Bureau of Inspections.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: All right.

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You know, at this

         10  point, I did read the bill carefully and I know that

         11  you want me to clarify what I consider to be the

         12  straints, I really feel that it does require a

         13  different process where the Council staff and the

         14  Administration staff sit down and look at what we

         15  have done, what I have described to you today, and

         16  what your ideas are for improving the process, so

         17  that we arrive at specific programmatic ideas that

         18  are compatible with state and federal guidelines and

         19  that provide us at the same time the flexibility we

         20  need to continue to allow this to be a dynamic

         21  process.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Of the

         23  complaints that you may receive from persons who eat

         24  in a food establishment, what are the usual things

         25  that they complain about or what are the most
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          2  frequent kinds of illnesses they claim that they get

          3  from food and from food stuff that they eat in

          4  restaurants?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: The --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Why don't you

          7  identify yourself for the record.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: I am

          9  sorry.

         10                 I am Deputy Mayor --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, not yet.

         12  But go ahead. You have to wait if there is a new

         13  Mayor coming in, okay?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: I am

         15  sorry, I don't have any ambition to be Deputy Mayor.

         16                 I am Deputy Commissioner Ben Mojica

         17  of the Health.

         18                 We do receive a large number of

         19  complaints and primarily these are either through

         20  our telephone complaints line, the Complaints

         21  Bureau, or through other means, like a letter, for

         22  example.

         23                 This complaint ranges from about 690

         24  to 700 complaints a year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It's what?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Between

          3  600 to 700. Six-hundred ninety-eight were received

          4  in 1998 and about 718 were received in 1999.

          5                 Currently we have just about 200 or

          6  so complaints received.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Two-hundred and

          8  what?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Eleven.

         10  Two-hundred or so, 211, during the current fiscal

         11  years. So, during the last five months we have

         12  received about 211 complaints.

         13                 The complaints range from the general

         14  sanitary conditions in the restaurants. There have

         15  been two complaints of some minor illness, or

         16  illness that they think may have resulted from

         17  eating in those particular establishments.

         18                 These complaints are followed up and

         19  an inspection or a visit to the restaurant or food

         20  establishment that they have complained out is

         21  accomplished. And we do not necessarily find a very

         22  strong correlation from the complaint and from the

         23  findings in those particular establishments.

         24                 In 1998, for example, only 18 of

         25  those 690 or so complaints really were confirmed to
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          2  be and presumptive of an outbreak related to those

          3  particular establishments.

          4                 And in 1999 only 19 of the 718 or so

          5  complaints were really confirmed to be related to

          6  those particular establishments.

          7                 Sometimes, however, we do not receive

          8  complaints. We do receive some kind of reports from

          9  some other individuals that a person may have gotten

         10  ill and is considered to be food-borne and we

         11  continue to investigate the potential source of

         12  those kinds of infections.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: My final

         14  question is going to be, of the kinds of illnesses

         15  and/or diseases that are food-borne, which are the

         16  ones that you monitor most closely?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: We

         18  monitor all of them.

         19                 The reportable conditions, as you

         20  know, range from aerobiosis all the way down to

         21  urocyanosis, not all of those may potentially be

         22  food-borne infection may really come from food, for

         23  example. For example, Hepatitis A, while that is a

         24  food-borne or a water-borne infection, most cases of

         25  Hepatitis A that we are currently investigating
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          2  right now, may not necessarily be because of

          3  consumption of contaminated food. It can be from

          4  person to person or a direct transmission from one

          5  infected individual to the next.

          6                 That is also true for Typhoid, for

          7  example. And while that can be transmitted through

          8  food, because it is salmonella, the potential

          9  transmission for that is because there is one person

         10  who may be the source of infection that can transmit

         11  it to the next individual.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         15  Harrison.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Dr. Mojica,

         17  you just made reference to food-borne illnesses that

         18  may be transmitted by the individual or food

         19  preparer; what are the regulations that currently

         20  exist that determine the sanitary health conditions

         21  of the individual workers in the food industry?

         22                 In other words, what kind of health

         23  inspection do you require of people who are employed

         24  in food preparation, in food service, in food

         25  delivery?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: First of

          3  all, we don't require any such health assessment to

          4  be presented to us for those individuals who serve

          5  in food establishments.

          6                 We, however, require a very strict

          7  and vigorous behavior or at least food preparation

          8  practices that they must adhere to.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: So that you

         10  might have a carrier for one of those diseases you

         11  just mentioned in your previous statement, a Typhoid

         12  carrier or someone, maybe not a Typhoid, maybe some

         13  other kind of illness, maybe tuberculosis; how do

         14  you know whether or not the consumer of the service

         15  is not being negatively impacted by the condition of

         16  the workers employed in the industry, in the

         17  restaurant?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: You are

         19  quite right, Ma'am, there may be some individual who

         20  is serving food, who may be a food server, that may

         21  be a carrier of one of these diseases. However,

         22  because of the restrictions and because of the

         23  practices that we require to adhere to, transmission

         24  of this kind of infection is limited or nil. And

         25  they are not particularly infectious if they are not
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          2  symptomatic.

          3                 We do not allow food servers, for

          4  example, who are currently symptomatic, whether it

          5  be diarrhea, some respiratory condition, to continue

          6  to work.

          7                 As you know, individuals who are

          8  working in food service establishments, and handle

          9  food that are ready to eat, must wear protective

         10  equipment, for example.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: What about the

         12  air-borne illnesses that may be transmitted from a

         13  lung disturbance, a lung disease, et cetera? And

         14  also, bear in mind, if you will, that many workers

         15  are now in the food industry who are recent

         16  immigrants who may not have had to undergo any kind

         17  of physical examination when they landed in the

         18  United States when they got off airplanes, instead

         19  of Ellis Island, how do you monitor under the

         20  conditions of the great number of immigrants

         21  employed in the food trade? That is not restricted

         22  to immigrants, but considering the fact that there

         23  are so very many?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: We are

         25  quite aware of that, and that is indeed a problem
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          2  that is going to be very, very difficult to address.

          3  But there are some processes that we currently are

          4  doing, or some restrictions that we currently

          5  employ.

          6                 One, as I mentioned before, we

          7  exclude symptomatic food workers, or workers in food

          8  establishments. So, if they are having diarrhea, for

          9  example, or if they are having a cough or some kind

         10  of respiratory illness, they are not supposed to be

         11  working, or are not permitted to work.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: How do you

         13  monitor it?

         14                 How do you monitor it? You have a

         15  very limited staff of workers who are doing field

         16  investigations? How do you monitor the health

         17  condition of the workers?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: We will

         19  only get to that point when, one, during our regular

         20  inspection; or, two, if there is ever any complaint.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: You know,

         22  the reason I am asking in this detail, in order for

         23  you to get your hair washed in a beauty parlor, the

         24  worker who has the privilege of washing your scalp

         25  must have to have a license. The person who does
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          2  your fingernails, must have to have a license. These

          3  are externals to the body, but the food is consumed

          4  internally. I should think that if you have these

          5  restrictions for persons who service your other

          6  needs, you would certainly have to have some kind of

          7  oversight on the question of the food handlers.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Yes, that

          9  is indeed the case.

         10                 As you know, however, there is always

         11  one person in the food establishment that has

         12  completed our course and is certified to do that.

         13                 They undergo a very rigorous training

         14  program and must pass an exam to be able to be able

         15  to be awarded a certificate.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: For food

         17  preparation, right?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: That's

         19  correct.

         20                 But in addition to that, they are

         21  also provided information and training on how to

         22  detect and prevent transmission of those diseases.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, I

         24  would question whether or not that is an effective

         25  use of that worker, given the kinds of intimacies
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          2  that develop when people work together and they

          3  become friends and one person doesn't want to

          4  jeopardize the income of another worker on the job.

          5  You know, I would question whether that is really a

          6  responsible solution to the question that I am

          7  raising.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I should add that

          9  it is considered a public health hazard when there

         10  are not adequate measures taken to protect any

         11  potential contamination by a worker, so we do

         12  highlight that as among the most serious violations

         13  that a restaurant can't incur.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: How do you

         15  do that, Doctor?

         16                 You have an inspector come into the

         17  restaurant on an inspection day, right? And the

         18  worker may not be on duty at that hour when your

         19  inspector may be there?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's true.

         21                 But obviously we are investigating

         22  any reports of outbreaks, going to the restaurant,

         23  interviewing the workforce, determining whether

         24  there is any worker, either in food preparation or

         25  in food service who might have been the origin of an

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  outbreak, and if we determine that, we would look at

          3  the liability of the restaurant as a public health

          4  hazard to determine whether properly carried out by

          5  Health Code what the requirements for protection,

          6  food protection was taught to them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Mr.

          8  Chairman, I would not carry this conversation

          9  further, but I would certainly encourage that we

         10  give this consideration in the future.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I welcome any

         12  member to actually join in pursuing.

         13                 Let me just say, because, you know,

         14  as this discussion is going on, let me tell you

         15  where I am troubled.

         16                 The bill before us basically, and

         17  what you see before us are business restaurant

         18  owners or what have you, or businesses. You know, I

         19  have been consistent in this Committee, because not

         20  being a lawyer I get frustrated sometimes because I

         21  always love the way people pass laws and then they

         22  talk about what they are doing, when it comes to

         23  enforcing or implementing or making sure that the

         24  law or the regulation is carried out, that is where

         25  many of us, the average John Doe, who looks to us
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          2  who would get elected are supposed to be the

          3  Spokesperson.

          4                 So, I don't apologize to anybody for

          5  pursuing this bill.

          6                 However, let me give you an example.

          7  You raised an issue, let me tell you what my concern

          8  is, because where I come from, I don't think many of

          9  us go in restaurants, we can't afford it. But let me

         10  tell you this:

         11                 I remember complaining to you,

         12  Commissioner, over and over last year and before

         13  that, about how you go out here on Broadway, and

         14  forget about a restaurant, take the hotdogs, the

         15  frankfurters and now it is bagels, and how they

         16  would slop the bagels, the creamcheese and no

         17  gloves, and the law says you are supposed to wear

         18  gloves.

         19                 Excuse me, in my senior centers, when

         20  I go visit them, they have to go to a training in

         21  your own centers, and they have to wear a net and

         22  they have to wear gloves and the whole schtick. And

         23  in my neighborhood, and I would challenge anyone to

         24  go into my neighborhood or your neighborhood, into

         25  senior centers, into day care centers where food is
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          2  done, and find a worker not with a hair net or

          3  gloves, et cetera, et cetera.

          4                 I must tell you, you must have done a

          5  good job, because I kept bugging you, but my office

          6  is on Broadway -- Commissioner hello --  Broadway,

          7  where Woodhull happens to be, Flushing, Graham,

          8  Broadway, take a look of the pushcart, and forget

          9  about the vendors, I am talking about the food, and

         10  see how they are not wearing gloves, nets and this

         11  is health.

         12                 So, sometimes I am a little baffled,

         13  and unfortunately we are discussing restaurants, but

         14  I am a believer that we have health codes, and it is

         15  to protect the public, then I must tell you, the

         16  question is, do you have enough inspectors? I am not

         17  going to have you answer that question, I am telling

         18  you with 119, no. Not with five Boroughs. Maybe when

         19  Staten Island becomes a city and they may hire 119,

         20  maybe to satisfy Staten Island as a city.

         21                 But as a city of five boroughs, I

         22  don't believe you have the staff to do the job you

         23  must do, that we are not imposing. You inherit it as

         24  the Commissioner of Health.

         25                 So, there are a lot of issues,
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          2  Council members, and they are simple issues

          3  sometimes. My problem is when people come here and

          4  say, oh, these bills are going to cost -- it is

          5  amazing how we can have a New York Yankees Parade,

          6  and I will bet you when that budget mod comes before

          7  us we will have to find $20 million out of

          8  somewhere, because we want to celebrate, and we are

          9  all for celebration. But when it comes to health

         10  issues, we are cheesy, we don't have the money, we

         11  don't have this, we don't have that.

         12                 So, I just want to be clear that my

         13  frustration is we better set our priorities.

         14                 And if health and protecting the

         15  public from health hazards, and I am not referring

         16  to restaurants, but across the board, then we have

         17  to give the same priority to those functions that we

         18  would to a parade, to a VIP when they come in, and

         19  yet, we never are short for money.

         20                 So, having said that, yes, Council

         21  Member, and I encourage you to join us in that area,

         22  because there are a lot of health areas that have

         23  nothing to do with restaurants, there are Health

         24  Codes that are currently in the books, and I must

         25  tell you, no, we are not doing a good job.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: And may I

          3  just add one last thing.

          4                 My mother used to work as a cook in a

          5  kitchen in a housing project. When she was hired to

          6  work as a cook in the project, she had to have a

          7  health examination, including an x-ray of her chest.

          8  It was determined at one point in her life she had

          9  had tuberculosis, she had scar tissue on her lungs.

         10  The point I am making is, it was a requirement, now

         11  this goes back a good 40, 50 years ago, it was a

         12  requirement in the City of New York at one time, and

         13  I do believe it would be very important and helpful

         14  and necessary.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         16  that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: To reinstate

         18  that as an ongoing requirement now, for anyone who

         19  works in the food industry serving the food.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But my point was,

         22  the food industry is not just restaurants. There are

         23  a lot of people out in the street who are also

         24  giving out food and not in a restaurant, and I am

         25  saying to you that if they are saying to us that
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          2  they are doing a job, and I am saying you are doing

          3  a job, it may be a good job. My problem is, maybe

          4  you can share with me all of those documents you

          5  have, how many times you go to these places, how

          6  many times did you find certain things, and maybe if

          7  you don't want to go into the media, maybe you

          8  should trust me and give it to me and I will give it

          9  to my colleagues, and maybe we would not be where we

         10  are today in legislatively doing something, and for

         11  the most part it is because what we see.

         12                 Now, we may be wrong in what we see,

         13  but then I must tell you that you have not been

         14  helpful in keeping us informed of what you have

         15  done.

         16                 So, then we become the bad guys

         17  because we have a piece of legislation before us

         18  that people are not comfortable with. Well, I can

         19  show you, and you can take that scale and balance

         20  it, if I right now really do, and I hate polls,

         21  because I have yet found one constituent of mine

         22  being polled, whoever is going to be U.S. Senator

         23  next year or president the following, you know, the

         24  fact is if I took a poll in my district, I will bet

         25  you that many of us, not all of us, our constituency
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          2  will be on the side of you have got to do better on

          3  protecting us from health hazards.

          4                 But having said that, Council Member

          5  McCaffrey.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you

          7  very much, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 Thank you for scheduling the hearing.

          9                 Commissioner, tell me what the

         10  consequence is to someone whose immune system is

         11  suppressed of food poisoning that could be possibly

         12  contracted from a set of circumstances in which food

         13  is improperly prepared in a restaurant?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, certainly

         15  someone with a compromised immune system is much

         16  more susceptible to more serious illness, because of

         17  their inability to fight off more serious infection.

         18                 I can say, looking at the data, that

         19  we are --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

         21  Commissioner, don't. Don't. Don't. Just answer my

         22  question from a public health professional point of

         23  view. What is the consequence of our regulations,

         24  our laws, our public policies, here in the City and

         25  the State and around the nation, in terms of
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          2  providing the type of safety standards in food

          3  preparation?

          4                 This applies particularly in the

          5  circumstance for those with immune suppressed; it

          6  can be a life-threatening circumstance?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Of course.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay. That

          9  I didn't hear in your testimony, which was

         10  unfortunate in the beginning. Because I think what

         11  happens, sadly, is that many who have come to your

         12  profession in terms of the government forget what

         13  their other profession is, and that is protecting

         14  the public. And the basic protection here is the

         15  health of the bureaucracy, and the health of

         16  individuals in the private sector. And I am not

         17  saying that that is inappropriate, but that comes

         18  after the public's health.

         19                 Commissioner, you said you want to be

         20  consistent with federal and state guidelines, you

         21  just said it a moment ago, what is the federal

         22  guidelines in terms of inspections? What is the

         23  federal guideline, is it once a year inspection, or

         24  twice a year inspection?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If I may, I think
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          2  the question was asked of the Commissioner, are you

          3  yielding to your Deputy Director? Is that what you

          4  are doing?

          5                 I believe the question was directed

          6  to the Commissioner?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes, to the

          8  Commissioner.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, thank you.

         10                 Would you identify yourself for the

         11  record, please.

         12                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes. My name is

         13  Michelle Robinson, I am the Deputy Director for the

         14  Bureau of Inspection.

         15                 The FDA guideline basically used two

         16  criteria to establish inspection frequency. One is

         17  the risk factor, which has to do with the complex

         18  processes of food, and the second piece is based on

         19  past compliance history.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         21                 MS. ROBINSON: And in that category

         22  they basically have five different categories.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And the

         24  second category --

         25                 MS. ROBINSON: Excuse me?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And the

          3  second instance? You said there are two separate

          4  aspects of the federal --

          5                 MS. ROBINSON: Two separate aspects

          6  but they basically have five different categories.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

          8                 MS. ROBINSON: And if you give me a

          9  minute I will read off the inspection frequencies.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

         11                 MS. ROBINSON: Some of them I know

         12  actually by heart.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: All right.

         14                 MS. ROBINSON: Prepackaged food,

         15  non-potentially hazardous food such as a bar that

         16  sells chips or whatever, they recommend one

         17  inspection a year.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

         19                 MS. ROBINSON: For an establishment on

         20  the other side of the spectrum, an establishment

         21  that does, for instance, vacuum packaging, handles

         22  extensive raw food, they may request that that

         23  establishment be inspected up to four times a year,

         24  and that there are some that are inspected two times

         25  a year, based on the processes and the population
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          2  being served.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay, and

          4  as it applies to restaurants, twice a year?

          5                 MS. ROBINSON: It all depends on the

          6  type of restaurant, sir.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But the

          8  restaurant that would serve for example a full menu

          9  of food, not the use of the example in terms of

         10  chips.

         11                 MS. ROBINSON: You mean extensive

         12  handling of food?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Handling of

         14  food.

         15                 MS. ROBINSON: At least two.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: At least

         17  two. So, Commissioner, when you say you want to be

         18  consistent, your testimony says that we are doing

         19  fine by highlighting the federal guidelines, and yet

         20  when you come to the state you say we should adhere

         21  to a memorandum of understanding, what we are not

         22  obligated whatsoever to follow in the construction

         23  of the City's Administrative Code.

         24                 The memorandum of understanding is in

         25  agreement to agree, and that is all it is. It has no
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          2  effective law in terms of that, all it is is

          3  everyone has come to a general understanding.

          4                 Now, if you want us to be consistent,

          5  Commissioner, we are going to abide by both the

          6  federal guidelines, and the State guidelines in

          7  terms of this, and so we are already violating by

          8  your own Council's rules and your testimony, the

          9  federal guidelines, by doing this only once a year,

         10  and that is all the standard is that you have out

         11  there. And that is something that is very

         12  disturbing. And I have to tell you that the Chairman

         13  is absolutely right, we were made promises, you are

         14  going to do the Internet in a year, we have to hear

         15  an explanation why that wasn't done and put up, now

         16  in your testimony on the months head.

         17                 Commissioner, you gave a telephone

         18  number out, I dialed the telephone number. Have you

         19  talked to anybody in your office? Did they brief you

         20  as to what this was or did you do it yourself? Two

         21  minutes forty-seven seconds and after that point you

         22  don't even get to the information you are talking

         23  about.

         24                 Dial the number. Someone in your

         25  staff has got to have a cell phone. Dial it. Listen
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          2  to the message. Two minutes, forty-seven seconds and

          3  even after that point you can't get to the point of

          4  asking for this information.

          5                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes, we actually dialed

          6  the number the same time you were actually dialing

          7  the number and we did get through.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: No, no, not

          9  through. After you have gone through your whole

         10  menu, pardon the use of that word, and pressing

         11  number nine, number two, the derivative of the

         12  square root of such and such.

         13                 MS. ROBINSON: I --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Two minutes

         15  and forty-seven seconds later you get to that

         16  category and there is nothing there. Our staff

         17  analyst did it, I did it.

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: Point well taken.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But point

         20  well taken is a point in which now you are saying to

         21  me, Commissioner, Deputy Commissioner, Commissioner,

         22  is the agency has come in here and attempted to

         23  foster a fraud on us, saying this is how the public

         24  can find out the information, by dialing this

         25  telephone number.
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          2                 The Department has made the latest

          3  inspection for any restaurant available to the

          4  public by calling its information, central

          5  information and complaints number at 212, okay?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I am insulted by

          7  your use of the word "fraud".

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But

          9  Commissioner, your own Deputy Commissioner and

         10  Counsel said this to me --

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: -- You might be

         12  inpatient in making this call with regard to waiting

         13  for the announcement that tells you how to link with

         14  the specific complaint that you are requesting, but

         15  to call that a fraud, Councilman, I think is

         16  insulting.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

         18  Commissioner, after you get to that point, you can't

         19  request it.

         20                 Have you, yourself, listened to this

         21  message?

         22                 Have you, yourself, played this.

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I have in the

         24  past, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay. Have
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          2  you done it recently?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, I haven't.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I would

          5  suggest you do because then I think perhaps you

          6  won't be offended by my characterization that I have

          7  just offered to you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member,

          9  in fairness, and some people don't know, why don't

         10  you do me a favor since you have the phone, why

         11  don't you dial it, put it on the mike so everybody

         12  can hear what we are discussing here and then we

         13  will determine whether someone is insulted, someone

         14  is not, and this way we can clearly understand what

         15  is going on here.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mr.

         17  Chairman, can I do that right after I have asked my

         18  three other questions?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sure.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And I will

         23  ask the staff to do that so that I can set it up.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:
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          2  Commissioner, let me ask you, in whatever

          3  neighborhood you live in, is there a newsstand where

          4  you can buy the City Record?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I haven't asked.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

          7                 Did you ever see it?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am sorry, ask

          9  that question again, I didn't get it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: In the

         11  Commissioner's neighborhood, whatever neighborhood,

         12  is there a newsstand that he can think of which

         13  sells the City Record.

         14                 I mean, can any of my colleagues

         15  think of a newsstand that can sell the City Record,

         16  or does sell the City Record? And the answer is no,

         17  I mean it is not there on it. So that the public, in

         18  terms of the use of the City Record, this is

         19  information that does nothing.

         20                 I mean, this is not something, I mean

         21  it is a benefit for the bureaucracy, but not again

         22  for the public in terms of this.

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: This past year

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  the Board of Health passed an amendment to the

          3  Health Code that required restaurants to post a sign

          4  at the door of the restaurant that provided them

          5  with a telephone number at the Health Department so

          6  they could receive a full inspection report. A full

          7  inspection report we offer the public at no cost up

          8  to five complete inspection reports, and we did that

          9  because up until this past year, it was a

         10  requirement for the restaurants to provide their

         11  copy of an inspection report to the patrons and

         12  clearly they were not doing that.

         13                 So, in recognition that citizens of

         14  New York deserve to have access. We made an

         15  amendment to the Health Code to afford people the

         16  opportunity, because we are not reluctant to share

         17  that information with them, and it will be shared on

         18  the web site, which will be launched after the first

         19  of the year, as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Now, you

         21  are walking up to a restaurant, whatever the nature

         22  of the restaurant is, and you are about to make a

         23  decision whether or not to go into that restaurant

         24  -- again, whatever its composition is - food court,

         25  deli, whatever, fine restaurant in the City of New
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          2  York, hotel restaurant; how are you supposed to have

          3  that information readily available to you at that

          4  moment? At that moment is the operative phrase.

          5  Whether or not someone has passed the inspection.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, did

          7  you make it a habit to ask restaurants for their

          8  inspection report before you sat down and ordered?

          9  Because it was available in the past and it was our

         10  understanding that the citizens didn't ask for that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

         12  Commissioner, why are you putting the average New

         13  Yorker, and the average person who visits the City

         14  of New York through bureaucratic hurdles? What have

         15  they done wrong? Why do they deserve that type of

         16  treatment?

         17                 Rather than making it easier for

         18  them, make it convoluted. Is that the best public

         19  policy?

         20                 Why is it, for example, in California

         21  you can end up walking up to a restaurant and see

         22  the sign so that someone has that type of sense as

         23  to whether or not they passed their inspection. Why

         24  is it that we can't do that? Is there something that

         25  we are lacking here? Are we in the City of New York
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          2  deficient than those folks who are in LaLa Land in

          3  California? I don't understand that.

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You are raising a

          5  far more complicated issue than I think you want to

          6  get into right now, because if you are talking about

          7  a sign or a grade.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: A sign that

          9  says that they passed inspection, which is the same

         10  thin as you are saying the report does, or the same

         11  thing that your document on the Internet whenever

         12  that is posted will show, or in the City Record

         13  would ever show.

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Unlike this bill

         15  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: That is an

         17  item that --

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Unlike this bill,

         19  we ensure that there are no public health hazards

         20  that are still operative in a restaurant, and we

         21  don't allow them to remain open.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And you

         23  don't allow them to remain open.

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, we don't. We

         25  see that they are corrected instantly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And how is

          3  that that that is not the case here?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Because it

          5  presupposes that a restaurant might have a public

          6  health hazard that would require it to be, lose its

          7  sign but not be closed.

          8                 In fact, the Health Department

          9  currently doesn't allow public health hazards to

         10  remain in effect because of the potential adverse

         11  health impact on citizens. So you have created

         12  legislation that is so much focused on what you call

         13  a public health hazard, that you really haven't

         14  digested the process of the Health Department's

         15  current inspection program which is far more

         16  rigorous than the one you are even proposing.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But,

         18  Commissioner, there is nothing -- is there anything

         19  that excludes the other aspect that you talked about

         20  from being implemented?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't

         22  understand the question you are asking.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Is there

         24  anything in this bill that by law would prevent any

         25  of the other activities that you have talked about,
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          2  going above and beyond?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't think it

          4  is a matter of law, I think it is a matter of common

          5  sense.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: All right,

          7  now, one of the items that I don't understand is the

          8  distinction that you make between the proposed

          9  legislation and your current regulations is the use

         10  of the phrase critical items, versus what we have as

         11  the enumerated items.

         12                 Would you say, for example, that the

         13  serving of contaminated food is also a critical item

         14  under your definition?

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Of course.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay, what

         17  about unprotected food? Would that be a critical

         18  item?

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: What do you mean

         20  by unprotected food?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: It is

         22  exposed, it is not covered, it is out. Is that

         23  something that would be a critical item?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, it is.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.
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          2                 What about the idea of the use of

          3  unsanitary equipment, would that be a critical item?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Of course.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: What about

          6  the idea that there is no hot water; would that be a

          7  critical item?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Not having

          9  available potable water is a public health hazard.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But is that

         11  a critical item as opposed to a general item?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Adequate potable

         13  water supply is a public health hazard. It is a

         14  critical item.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         16                 So, Commissioner, the reason I ask

         17  you is the list that we have as part of the

         18  legislation is all, as I read your list on critical

         19  in our enumerated list here are virtually one in the

         20  same.

         21                 I mean, there is nothing on this

         22  list, is there anything on the legislative list that

         23  you would say does not fit into your category of a

         24  critical item, of the failure to prevent entrance or

         25  harbor vermin, improper garbage or other disposal?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There were a few,

          3  in fact, Councilman.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Well, which

          5  ones on that, Commissioner? Can anybody tell us

          6  that?

          7                 MS. ROBINSON: One is the no toilet

          8  facility requirement. I guess I am not clear on

          9  whether or not you mean whether there is a toilet

         10  facility for patrons?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes, for

         12  the employees.

         13                 MS. ROBINSON: Oh, the employees.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         15                 MS. ROBINSON: Okay, that would not be

         16  a contradictory, if that is what you mean, some of

         17  it is ambiguous in which you mean.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         19                 MS. ROBINSON: The other one is no

         20  plan submitted?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         22  There is no initial plan that has been submitted for

         23  the opening of the restaurant. It just opened up,

         24  comes right in, doesn't come to you, doesn't tell

         25  you we are opening up a restaurant, you want to go
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          2  to the 21-day inspection. That you wouldn't consider

          3  critical?

          4                 MS. ROBINSON: No. Currently not all

          5  food service establishments have to submit a full

          6  plan to the Department.

          7                 We did a plan review out in the

          8  field.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But one was

         10  submitted at some point, whether it is in the field

         11  or whether it is --

         12                 MS. ROBINSON: No plan is required at

         13  this time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

         15                 So someone can just open up and you

         16  don't know whether or not they -- how would you know

         17  they have to be inspected in the 21 days?

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: Well, one of the things

         19  that we have working, employed with the Bureau of

         20  Inspections, in another title called Environmental

         21  Health Technician, and their main purpose is to walk

         22  block by block, street by street in every borough,

         23  just checking for permit issuance.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So, it

         25  would not be better to have the obligation out there
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          2  rather than to have your inspectors sort of

          3  hopefully catch those folks as they are going around

          4  looking at these sites?

          5                 MS. ROBINSON: People will still not

          6  apply for a permit, even if they did not have to

          7  submit a plan, and our largest closing number

          8  actually has to do with no permit, which is 264.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And do you

         10  consider that no permit a critical item also?

         11                 MS. ROBINSON: Yes, that is a critical

         12  violation.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay, we

         14  could change that.

         15                 Lastly, Commissioner, before we get

         16  to the playing of the telephone message here, the

         17  other item I just want to get some sense from you is

         18  the cost of inspectors.

         19                 We have heard from OMB over the years

         20  as we grille agencies, that the inspectors by and

         21  large pay for themselves in terms of the fines that

         22  are gotten, et cetera; is that your experience also

         23  in the agency right now?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I would have to

         25  get those numbers for you. You have to look at the
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          2  fines collected as opposed to the cost of the

          3  workforce.

          4                 I think they don't pay for

          5  themselves, but still there is a significant

          6  contribution that supports this from revenue.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

          8                 Mr. Chairman, at your direction we

          9  are happy to play it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         11                 Commissioner, I just want to go back

         12  to an area that you mentioned before I excuse you. I

         13  am a little confused here again. Your Deputy

         14  Director said about 20 percent of establishment may

         15  be operating without a permit, I think that is what

         16  you said, correct? Because the law, the current law

         17  is clear. It says, and help me out, Mr. Lawyer, that

         18  a new establishment must secure a permit and the

         19  Department must within 21 days do that inspection.

         20                 It goes on to say that in the failure

         21  of the Department of Health to inspect in 21 days --

         22  okay, since they talked about violation, I don't

         23  want to be part of violating any law.

         24                 Article 81, food handling and food

         25  establishment, this is the New York City Health
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          2  Code, so it must be then, what is it, Section 81.05,

          3  Section C. It says: In the event the Department does

          4  not make an inspection of the establishment during

          5  the 21-day period, operations may commence without a

          6  permit on the 22nd day, and may continue without

          7  such operations being in violation of this section,

          8  until such time as the Department makes an

          9  inspection and issues a permit or issues an order to

         10  cease operation for cause pursuant to 81.39 or other

         11  applicable provisions of this Code.

         12                 On that 20 percent, that I think you

         13  said in 1999, not fiscal year, you said in this

         14  calendar year 1999, if I remember correctly, you

         15  said 20 percent are establishments who might be

         16  operating without a permit; is that fair to say?

         17  It's 26 percent, okay.

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: Let me clarify. What I

         19  actually probably should have said is that 26.7 of

         20  the establishments were actually inspected after the

         21  22nd day, which means they were allowed to open law

         22  on the 21st day without a permit.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So you are saying

         24  --

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That isn't the
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          2  same as believing that 26 percent or 20 percent of

          3  our food establishments are operating without

          4  permits.

          5                 In fact, we found 264 this past year,

          6  in calendar year, had no permit, or expired permit.

          7  Two-hundred sixty-four. That is out of a number of

          8  20,000.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         10  that, Commissioner.

         11                 But, you see, there is where I have a

         12  problem with this scenario. And I go back to the

         13  scenario about the Police Department and the bushel

         14  - it is an industry. Whenever you have even 200,

         15  even 1, and they get away with it, it is like the

         16  cat is away, let us play. And I am saying that that

         17  264, as far as I am concerned personally, it is a

         18  large number.

         19                 And there is where I go back where I

         20  am not blaming the establishment, I am blaming the

         21  Department for the failure of carrying out what you

         22  were saying to us, and I am not going to say, and in

         23  no way I am going to say that you came here and

         24  suggested something, so let me just say this: It

         25  questions whether or not you have the manpower to do
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          2  your job.

          3                 And so, I want to be clear as we move

          4  forward, and if we are really committed to a piece

          5  of legislation, that whoever the Mayor may be after

          6  I am gone, that the law prevails. That whoever the

          7  Administration happens to be, must carry out the

          8  law, they took an oath to uphold the law. And there

          9  is where my problem is, because 264 restaurants are

         10  operating, and you just said it, not only after 21

         11  days, but you said you found that they still don't

         12  have a permit.

         13                 Now, whether it is a renewal or a new

         14  permit, the fact is you have over 200 locations.

         15                 Now, yes, in New York City with 8

         16  million people and five boroughs, I understand that.

         17  But if we don't start, and you know, with this

         18  negotiation, if we don't start focusing on where we

         19  should be looking at addressing, so that the masses

         20  do not become the victim, I believe that many of us

         21  who are supporting this bill are reasonable people

         22  so long as the job gets done.

         23                 And so if we have to focus, as we

         24  negotiate, or as we have these dialogues you are

         25  referring to, on the numbers you are giving us,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  rather than the global, then we are ready to look at

          3  that.

          4                 But we are not giving up the global

          5  when numbers are being thrown at us and then we ask

          6  questions, and honestly, you know, this has nothing

          7  to do with the restaurants or the status that has to

          8  do with your agency. Somehow they failed in 264

          9  cases, restaurants, and there is where the question

         10  comes in about the public health.

         11                 Any other questions of my colleague?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, sir. I am

         14  sorry.

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: If I could

         16  respond to that?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Absolutely. And I

         18  didn't accuse you of anything.

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Okay.

         20                 Well, you said we failed, and you

         21  could have said we succeeded, in my view, because we

         22  succeeded in identifying 264 restaurants that were

         23  closed because of either expired or not permit, and

         24  that is only 1.2 percent of the total number of

         25  restaurants that we understand are out there that we
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          2  inspect annually.

          3                 I should also highlight that the

          4  majority of these restaurants without permit, are

          5  expired permits that are having difficulty paying

          6  the fines that they incurred on previous

          7  inspections, and while the health hazards and the

          8  critical violations have been corrected and have

          9  been addressed, they still don't have the money to

         10  pay the fines, and they have to pay it gradually

         11  apparently, and as a result their permits are

         12  expiring, and we find that they have expired, they

         13  are subject to a very stiff penalty.

         14                 And as Ms. Robinson told you before,

         15  we have a sweeps team of environmental health

         16  technicians whose only job it is to go from

         17  neighborhood to neighborhood, looking at whether

         18  there is an up-to-date permit. So, I think it is

         19  unfair to say that we are neglecting this, that we

         20  are not treating it as a significant issue, and I

         21  think the fact that we have closed as many as we

         22  have points to some success, as opposed to failure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And before I

         24  again excuse you, because I know that there is a

         25  question of whether you were offended, and in
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          2  fairness to you, and in fairness to my colleague,

          3  and since the issue came about the dialing of a

          4  number, may I again ask -- who has the cell phone?

          5  Why don't we just dial.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mr.

          7  Chairman, I am willing to let anyone take the

          8  number, and make the judgment for themselves, they

          9  will conclude the same as I did.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And I will

         12  leave it at that, rather than tie up the schedule.

         13                 But anybody who will hear it will

         14  hear the exact same thing I did.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         16                 Thank you, Council Member.

         17                 Commissioner, again, I started by

         18  saying seasons greetings, the best to you and your

         19  agency, in terms of health and happiness. I look

         20  forward to our continuing dialogue. I look forward

         21  to these meetings.

         22                 I always give you the last word,

         23  please, I am not going to change this time, I am

         24  still your friend. So, why don't you just, if you

         25  have any closing departing remarks.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you,

          3  Councilman.

          4                 Since I have been the Commissioner

          5  you have held hearings on mobile food vendors, on

          6  school cafeterias, and more than one hearing on the

          7  restaurant program, so I am comfortable that under

          8  your leadership we have had oversight with respect

          9  to the job the Health Department is doing. And as we

         10  have talked in the past, I am very proud of the fact

         11  that we are at 100 percent this year, as we were

         12  last year, in inspecting all the restaurants

         13  annually, which we were not doing as comprehensively

         14  as we needed to before, and that when you look at

         15  the figures this year, you will see that every

         16  mobile food cart has been inspected most likely on

         17  two occasions, and that we have removed more than

         18  three times as many food carts from the street this

         19  year than we did even last year when we had a

         20  significant uptick in our inspections program.

         21                 So, the program is moving along, we

         22  have the two-tiered program, we are expecting those

         23  restaurants that are demonstrating that they need to

         24  have much closer monitoring, and despite some

         25  glitches in the computer technology that have
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          2  contributed to a delay, we will have our web site,

          3  and undoubtedly you would have been the first person

          4  who would have said to me that your constituents

          5  don't necessarily have computers, so we saw to it

          6  that our number one priority was to have greater

          7  access through a telephone call or by writing the

          8  Health Department and how we are citing restaurants

          9  that are not hanging that sign at their exit door.

         10                 So I think there are a number of ways

         11  that we have really taken seriously our mandate to

         12  ensure the public health and safety in our

         13  inspection program.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 My dear friend, who I had the

         19  privilege of being here when he was a distinguished

         20  public servant then, now the President of the Hotel

         21  Association of New York City, the former Fire

         22  Commissioner, Joseph Spinnato.

         23                 My good friend, Joe, it is always

         24  good to see you. I see you have next to you my other

         25  good friend, Peter Pascatelli, who used to lobby me
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          2  like crazy in Albany so he knows I wasn't joking.

          3                 Would you again identify yourself for

          4  the record, and the gentleman next to you, and then

          5  proceed, sir.

          6                 Hold on for a second.

          7                 Sergeant-At-Arms, can we have any

          8  discussions outside, please? Let's give the respect

          9  and courtesy to witnesses, whether they were Health

         10  Commissioners or just a hard-working representative

         11  of a group.

         12                 MR. SPINNATO: Thank you, Chairman

         13  Robles, and good afternoon. Good afternoon, ladies

         14  and gentlemen, members of the Council. For the

         15  record, my name is Joseph E. Spinnato,

         16  S-p-i-n-n-a-t-o, and I am President of the Hotel

         17  Association of New York City. Our association

         18  represents 167 hotels in the five boroughs,

         19  representing a little over 59,000 rooms, and

         20  approximately 100 food service establishments.

         21                 The gentleman to my right is Mr.

         22  Peter A. Piscatelli of the firm of Wilson Elser, and

         23  Mr. Piscatelli is our legislative consultant.

         24                 As always, Mr. Robles, it is a

         25  pleasure to be before you and your Committee, and I
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          2  thank you once again for the opportunity to be able

          3  to be here and to share with you our views with

          4  respect to in the past other legislation and in this

          5  case Intro. 350-A. And I thank you for that

          6  opportunity on behalf of our members.

          7                 Like yourself and the Committee, our

          8  primary concern is the safety and cleanliness of our

          9  food service establishments. As I said, we have

         10  approximately 100 in our various hotels that we

         11  represent.

         12                 As you may know, most of our hotels

         13  at their own expense hire outside sanitary and

         14  health engineers to examine their establishments on

         15  a monthly basis to ensure that they are complying

         16  with the highest health standards, and quite

         17  frankly, to ensure that they are up to snuff when

         18  the inspectors from the Department of Health come

         19  around for their inspections.

         20                 So, as I say, our primary concern is

         21  for the cleanliness and the safety of our

         22  establishments and for the well-being of the public

         23  who uses them.

         24                 As to 350-A, our members met

         25  yesterday, we discussed it and I can say at the
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          2  outset that as far as the number of inspections that

          3  are being proposed, we have absolutely no objections

          4  to that.

          5                 If the City is able to carry out the

          6  inspections that are mandated under the bill, we

          7  have no problem with that.

          8                 We do, however, have two major

          9  concerns with respect to the pending bill. The first

         10  has to do with signage. We have heard that word a

         11  number of times. There is no question that at the

         12  present time there are a myriad number of signs that

         13  are required in restaurants in the food service

         14  establishments, and to add another sign, when our

         15  people hear that, they have an automatic negative

         16  reaction to it, oh, my God, another sign. And so

         17  having said that, for the record, we would prefer

         18  not to have another sign.

         19                 However, if it is decided that a sign

         20  "passed inspection" is required, we would suggest

         21  that it would be of a size that is least intrusive

         22  on the ambiance of our restaurants and hotel dining

         23  rooms. To have a sign, you know, that would just

         24  overwhelm, half of that would probably be -- but,

         25  again, if a sign is going to be required, we would
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          2  really urge that it be of a size and a nature that

          3  would not be offensive to our people.

          4                 And also, the bill now proposes that

          5  the sign be placed in a window or at the entrance to

          6  the restaurant or the food service establishment. As

          7  you know, ladies and gentlemen, hotels, many of the

          8  restaurants, especially the hotels that have several

          9  restaurants, they do not have entry from the street.

         10  The restaurants in those instances are entered

         11  either from the lobby, or down a hallway, and so it

         12  becomes a logistical problem as to placing signs

         13  say, for example, and I use this at the welcome

         14  station of the Palm Court, at the Plaza Hotel, and I

         15  say this only because most of us know these rooms,

         16  as well as the Peacock Alley and the Waldorf

         17  Astoria, those are entered -- those of us who work

         18  in the industry anyway. Your counsel knows. What we

         19  would suggest in those instances, that there be an

         20  exception to the sign being placed at the entrance,

         21  but rather that there be some sort of passed

         22  inspection certificate being available to the

         23  patrons of the restaurant.

         24                 We really haven't come up with a

         25  satisfying alternative, what could be a satisfying
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          2  alternative, but it is obviously a problem that we

          3  would ask you to consider.

          4                 The second major concern that we have

          5  has to do with the due process with respect to the

          6  publication of violation.

          7                 It has long been our position, and

          8  you may recall when we testified here the last time,

          9  that if an establishment is issued or is observed to

         10  be in violation and the violation is of such a

         11  nature that the restaurant should be closed on the

         12  spot, well, close it. And if that needs to be

         13  published, we have no objection to that.

         14                 Our objection is that when a food

         15  service establishment is served with a notice of

         16  violation, that whether it be three days or five

         17  days or whatever, that there be a period within

         18  which the establishment be given the opportunity to

         19  correct that violation.

         20                 On reinspection, if the facility has

         21  not remedied the violation, or has come up with

         22  additional violations, then the publication should

         23  occur, but not before the facility is given the

         24  opportunity to correct the situation; or, if the

         25  restaurant is contesting the violation, at least
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          2  until a hearing is had and a determination is made

          3  by the hearing officer.

          4                 That very basically is our comments.

          5  These are our comments at the moment. We look

          6  forward, as always, to working with you and the

          7  Committee, Mr. Robles. And, again, as I said, our

          8  intention is to ensure that our establishments are

          9  safe and healthy places to eat and whatever we can

         10  do and whatever our industry can do to ensure that,

         11  we are willing to cooperate.

         12                 Having said that, I am available for

         13  any questions that you might have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I think my

         15  colleague, Council Member McCaffrey, has a question.

         16                 Let me say to you once again, like I

         17  said last time, not only to you but to the New York

         18  State Restaurant Association, is, one, I appreciate

         19  your recommendation for consideration, and I

         20  respectfully ask that perhaps you follow through by

         21  putting that in writing to us so that, you know, I

         22  mean --

         23                 MR. SPINNATO: We will.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We are here not

         25  to hurt, but at the same token, just like people in
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          2  this room are here because they represent somebody

          3  or something, we got elected to represent those who

          4  are not sitting here. And, so, I thank you for your

          5  recommendations, without looking into them or really

          6  studying them, personally they are fair, and we will

          7  look at it.

          8                 MR. SPINNATO: We would like to think

          9  we have made some reasonable proposals here.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         12  McCaffrey.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Let me just

         14  say, more as a comment, Mr. Chairman, I think the

         15  points that are raised on the quick cure, as we had

         16  talked about before, and counsel has indicated to us

         17  that that is something that can be accommodated, our

         18  concern is not adding to the bureaucracy, if there

         19  is someone that has a legitimate problem. If

         20  someone's refrigeration system breaks down and they

         21  correct that in that circumstance on it, that is not

         22  the type of circumstance that this is meant to be

         23  oriented toward, it is much in the same way as if

         24  someone has any problem in which they are driving

         25  down the street and they have an accident and the
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          2  mirror has been knocked off the side of their car

          3  and then an officer pulls him over ten minutes

          4  later, you know, that they have that ability to show

          5  that was taken care of, et cetera. So, I certainly

          6  have no problems with that. I think it is good for

          7  the industry. I think it is very good in terms of

          8  the restaurant industry, so that they are not

          9  burdened with that, and that certainly came out of

         10  our last round of hearings, and we certainly would

         11  welcome any additional thoughts that you have about

         12  those non-structured food locations, such as the

         13  Palm Court that you cite, where there is that desire

         14  to deal with their unique configuration at the same

         15  time for the public's concern.

         16                 Mr. Piscatelli, were you suggesting

         17  that they print on the menus? Was that?

         18                 MR. PISCATELLI: No, no.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But we

         20  think that that is something that could be

         21  accommodated and we welcome your testimony on this a

         22  great deal.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         25  Clarke.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

          3  much, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 Everything comes down to a level of

          5  resources. You are talking about the hotel and the

          6  restaurants there, and that is quite different from

          7  a district that I represent, where every month there

          8  is a new Caribbean cuisine or a combination of

          9  cuisine, that comes up in a store front that becomes

         10  a take out restaurant. And I think we need to look

         11  at the spectrum of food service establishments, and

         12  I wondered whether you have any thoughts on how we

         13  may look at these establishments in very different

         14  lights.

         15                 I am a person who promotes

         16  entrepreneurship in my own community, and when the

         17  Department of Health walks in and they didn't go

         18  through the proper procedures in establishing a

         19  business, and they get cited or they get fines or

         20  they go to a tribunal, they rush to me. And my

         21  question is, did you know what the procedures were

         22  ahead of time?

         23                 And so as we are looking to address,

         24  we are not trying to drive people out of business

         25  here, we are trying to protect the health of persons
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          2  who come, get this food and whatever.

          3                 Did you ever take a look at the many

          4  varieties of food establishments and how we can

          5  address them, both based on size, location, you

          6  know, yet achieve this health standard that we are

          7  looking at?

          8                 MR. SPINNATO: Well, the simple answer

          9  to your question is I don't feel that I am qualified

         10  to comment on the various levels or the different

         11  types of food service establishments around the

         12  City.

         13                 However, experience would teach me

         14  that there are certainly minimum requirements that

         15  all food service establishments should adhere to.

         16  And those are currently in the Department of Health

         17  regulations, as well as the Board of Health

         18  mandates.

         19                 So, I think perhaps what is needed,

         20  and this is just my opinion, is some vehicle whereby

         21  these people who start up these new ventures, these

         22  new food service establishments, should have

         23  exposure to some type of training or some type of

         24  education as to what is required and how they should

         25  react to the various, those various requirements.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I am sure you

          3  heard the Commissioner testify to the number of

          4  inspectors that they have, and I am sure that the

          5  number of food service establishments, including the

          6  hot dog stands, have increased dramatically over the

          7  last couple of years.

          8                 You are able to pay to have somebody,

          9  persons, staff persons who just inspect you so you

         10  can self-regulate yourself because of who you are

         11  and because of the insurance that you may have, not

         12  wanting, but comes the other, smaller, medium-sized

         13  and small businesses who don't have the same

         14  resources or be able to hire somebody to come and

         15  run through the inspections.

         16                 Based on the question asked both by

         17  the Chair and my colleagues today, do you have some

         18  thoughts on what you think is necessary to do an

         19  adequate job by the Department?

         20                 MR. SPINNATO: Well, obviously we have

         21  some concerns, and that is why in my testimony of a

         22  few moments ago I indicated that if a restaurant or

         23  a dining room in our hotel is cited, and is given a

         24  notice of violation, that prior to that notice, or

         25  prior to that violation being published in the news
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          2  media as this bill mandates, that they be given the

          3  opportunity to have a reinspection, and if that

          4  reinspection doesn't occur because of the fact that

          5  there may not be enough inspectors, then it

          6  shouldn't be published.

          7                 So, I may be answering your question

          8  from the back door, but I don't mean to. I just say

          9  that that is what caused us to think seriously about

         10  the publication issue.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 MR. SPINNATO yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Joe, Peter, it

         15  was good to see you. Thank you.

         16                 MR. SPINNATO: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Happy holidays.

         19                 MR. SPINNATO: Have a wonderful

         20  Christmas and a happy New Year.

         21                 And actually, Mr. McCaffrey, with the

         22  threat of the Transit strike over the past couple of

         23  days, we were able to come up with 1,600 rooms for

         24  the Mayor's office, which nobody knew were out

         25  there. So, if you try hard enough you will find one.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, thank you.

          3                 MR. SPINNATO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: E. Charles Hunt,

          5  who is the Executive Vice President of the New York

          6  State Restaurants Association. I believe it is the

          7  Manhattan Chapter.

          8                 I was reading your letter and it says

          9  here Manhattan Chapter. Are there other chapters

         10  like Queens and Brooklyn?

         11                 MR. HUNT: Actually, we have what we

         12  call the Greater New York Chapter, we refer to as

         13  the Manhattan Chapter.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Oh, I see.

         15                 MR. HUNT: We do have a separate

         16  chapter in Queens and we are in the process of

         17  trying to set up a chapter in Brooklyn.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         19                 MR. HUNT: Mr. Chairman, members of

         20  the Council and the Committee, good afternoon.

         21                 My name is E. Charles Hunt, and I am

         22  the Executive Vice President of the New York Chapter

         23  of the New York State Restaurant Association, a

         24  trade association representing over 2,000 food

         25  service outlets within the five boroughs of New York
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          2  City.

          3                 Our membership is made up of all

          4  types of operations, from neighborhood coffee shops,

          5  to LeCirque.

          6                 A year ago this past October I

          7  appeared before this Committee and offered testimony

          8  regarding our members' position on Intro. 350, the

          9  predecessor to this legislation 350-A which we are

         10  discussing today.

         11                 For the most part, our position has

         12  not changed. Before discussing the specifics of

         13  350-A, let me first talk about some overall concepts

         14  regarding the food service industry and its

         15  recognition of its responsibility to provide the

         16  citizens of and the visitors to our great city with

         17  safe and sanitary places to eat and drink.

         18                 Food safety is non-negotiable.

         19  Serving safe food is not an option but a postulate.

         20  It is our obligation as restaurant and food service

         21  professionals. We take no issue to codes, rules or

         22  regulations that are designed to ensure and enhance

         23  the highest standards of sanitation in our

         24  restaurants.

         25                 However, legislation to that end
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          2  should be reasonable and workable. It should be

          3  proactive rather than reactive and punitive. It

          4  should protect the public from any irresponsible

          5  operators who flagrantly violate the rules, putting

          6  the public at risk.

          7                 It should also be designed to educate

          8  and assist businesses that operate in good faith and

          9  acknowledge and live up to their responsibilities.

         10                 It is very simple, close up the bad

         11  guys and help the good guys do the best possible

         12  job. Let the public know that when they patronize a

         13  food service operation in New York City all possible

         14  steps are being taken by the operators in the City

         15  to assure their safety.

         16                 Ladies and gentlemen, there is a

         17  system already in place whereby the food service

         18  industry, as regulated and guided by the City's

         19  Health Department is doing an outstanding job of

         20  meeting those goals.

         21                 Of course, we can and should always

         22  strive to do better.

         23                 In that light, I wish to make the

         24  Committee aware that since the introduction of the

         25  original bill, a number of steps have been taken to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            113

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  help food service operators do an even better job.

          3                 We have met with representatives of

          4  the Health Department on several occasions to

          5  discuss ways to help our membership work with the

          6  Department to achieve our mutual objective, food

          7  safety.

          8                 We have increased the frequency of

          9  our food handling certification programs.

         10  Parenthetically, we are the only organization that

         11  conducts these type of classes other than the City

         12  Department of Health and we are authorized to do so.

         13                 We have made self-inspection forms

         14  available to our members. We have supported the

         15  Department's telephone and web page program to make

         16  health inspection reports available to the public.

         17                 Let me assure you that New York

         18  City's food service industry will continue to do

         19  whatever we can to be faithful to our food safety

         20  obligations. Be as stringent as is appropriate with

         21  the bad guys, but, please, do not enact legislation

         22  saddling the good guys with unworkable and confusing

         23  regulations, onerous fines and undeserved

         24  reputations.

         25                 Now, let's take a look at this bill,
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          2  as offered, point by point.

          3                 Permits: The biggest concern that our

          4  membership has regarding the section on new permits

          5  is that if the inspection is not done during the

          6  21-day period, the operator can suffer great

          7  hardship.

          8                 With high rents and the difficulty of

          9  finding and retaining staff for a new restaurant, a

         10  restaurateur cannot afford to just sit and wait.

         11                 As far as not being allowed to

         12  operate without a permit, what happens if an

         13  Administrative error or delay results in a

         14  restaurant not receiving their permit renewal on

         15  time for the next inspection?

         16                 We have had situations where the

         17  restaurant had a cancelled check for the fee, but

         18  had not been sent the permit.

         19                 Inspections: The bill proposes that

         20  food service facilities be inspected no less than

         21  once every six months, twice a year.

         22                 Similar to the hotels, we don't

         23  really have a problem with that. Frankly, we are

         24  subject to inspection at any time, and we conduct

         25  our own inspections on a daily basis. It is called
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          2  proper management.

          3                 In 1998, as you heard today, New

          4  York's Health Department inspected 99 percent of the

          5  City's food service operations at least once.

          6  Wouldn't it make sense to make more frequent

          7  inspections of the one that failed the first

          8  inspection, rather than try to do them all twice?

          9                 The surprise follow-up inspection

         10  schedule is unrealistic. From the Health

         11  Department's perspective, as you heard, it would

         12  create an administrative nightmare. From the

         13  restaurateur's perspective it would create problems,

         14  if, for example, a violation was cited just prior to

         15  a weekend and correction required any kind of

         16  construction or equipment repair.

         17                 Current practice allows sufficient

         18  time for such situations due to its flexibility.

         19                 Sign postings: A sign on the door of

         20  every one of the 20,000 food service operations, the

         21  proposed sign would be extremely unattractive and

         22  unnecessary, and if you look over here I have taken

         23  the liberty to do a sign with three-inch letters. It

         24  reminds me of my days on the farm, when we had a

         25  sign that said posted. It is about as attractive.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I want to make

          3  sure, you made that sign?

          4                 MR. HUNT: I made that sign. And it

          5  says on the sign, by the way, mock sign for

          6  illustration only, not valid.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

          8  that. But I see the Department of Health, I didn't

          9  want that sign to be made by them --

         10                 MR. HUNT: No, this is the only copy

         11  of this and I will be happy to destroy it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: All right.

         13                 MR. HUNT: If a restaurant is allowed

         14  to be open for business, that is the sign that the

         15  restaurant has passed its inspection, and is safe

         16  for the public.

         17                 Also, many of us remember those dark

         18  days of yesteryear, do we want to return to what

         19  happened to the past?

         20                 In Los Angeles County, California,

         21  the sign requirement led to just those kind of

         22  problems. I would hope to be able to show you a

         23  brief videotape today illustrating that.

         24                 I believe Mr. McCaffrey and Chairman

         25  Robles have already seen it.
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          2                 Another consideration is confusion on

          3  the part of the public. Would every restaurant who

          4  had passed their last inspection receive a sign at

          5  the commencement of the new law? Or would they have

          6  to wait until their first inspection, making it

          7  appear to the public, for whatever period of time it

          8  took until their first inspection, that they had not

          9  passed.

         10                 Also, the proposed law requires that

         11  a passed inspection sign would have to be removed by

         12  a supervisor, creating another scheduling problem.

         13                 Again, I submit that the fact that a

         14  restaurant is allowed to remain open is sufficient

         15  notice to the public the restaurant is safe.

         16                 Newspaper publication. Regarding

         17  this, no publication should be made until all

         18  alleged violations have been adjudicated. If a

         19  restaurant has been found to be an actual and

         20  imminent danger to the public, it will have been

         21  closed immediately, and a notice will have been

         22  prominently placed on the premises.

         23                 We do find, however, that this

         24  section has been modified compared to the original

         25  bill.
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          2                 If Council feels that the physical

          3  notice on the premises and the information available

          4  through the Health Department's telephone and soon

          5  to come web page is insufficient, we need to be

          6  assured that publication will not take place until

          7  all judicial determinations have been made.

          8                 Rules: Definition of public health

          9  hazards. The Department already has a long list of

         10  possible violations. What is needed is a more

         11  specific definition of what constitutes a public

         12  health hazard.

         13                 Article 81 of the New York City

         14  Health Code does not define public health hazard,

         15  but rather an imminent health hazard. The same is

         16  true for the State Code. It has a section 14-1.10

         17  entitled Public Health Hazards and then it goes on

         18  in the section to refer to them as imminent health

         19  hazards that would result in immediate closure.

         20                 This part of the bill definitely

         21  needs more additional work.

         22                 Penalties: Now we come to one of the

         23  most troubling parts of the bill.

         24                 I suspect that the fines proposed

         25  would be the highest in the nation. Even the most
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          2  prosperous of our restaurants would find them

          3  onerous and smaller operations would be devastated.

          4                 One of our members in response to a

          5  survey sent out said, "Trying to fund the Department

          6  of Health with inspection fines is like funding the

          7  entire DOT with traffic tickets."

          8                 The requirement that any food service

          9  operation with three or more public health hazard

         10  violations be closed surpasses the need or the

         11  intent of the regulations, and carelessly applied,

         12  could result in the destruction of one of the City's

         13  most valuable assets in its restaurants.

         14                 Certainly whoever drafted this bill

         15  didn't seriously think about what this section could

         16  lead to.

         17                 In conclusion, once again, I suggest

         18  that in the best interest of New York and its

         19  citizens, a better approach, instead of this bill,

         20  would be to forge a stronger, more proactive working

         21  relationship between the food service industry and

         22  the Department of Health.

         23                 We should work together towards the

         24  goals of better training, better practices and

         25  affordification of the commitment to continue
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          2  keeping New York's restaurants at their best and a

          3  model for the world. We ask that you will help us,

          4  not hurt us.

          5                 I just would like to make two other

          6  comments and then I will take questions.

          7                 In respect to some of the questions

          8  you asked the representatives of the Department of

          9  Health regarding food service illness -- excuse me.

         10  Food-borne illness, I got the impression that you

         11  may be laboring on the misapprehension that all

         12  food-borne illness originates in restaurants. I dare

         13  say that all of us in this room, should our personal

         14  homes be inspected with the same standards that are

         15  applied by the Department of Health, I don't think

         16  too many of us would get passed inspection signs.

         17                 I would also like to make a comment

         18  about the attendance at today's meeting. This is a

         19  very, very important issue to the members of the

         20  restaurant community. Unfortunately, the hearing was

         21  scheduled during what is probably the busiest week

         22  of the year, it commenced at lunchtime, I had one

         23  speaker who was here prepared to make a statement

         24  but had to leave, he is the owner/manager of a very,

         25  very busy restaurant. He had to leave to go home.
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          2                 So, please, don't judge our concern

          3  about this bill and our desire to help make a better

          4  food safety City out of New York is represented by

          5  the fact that of my 2,000 restaurants that we

          6  represent, that only a few were able to attend

          7  today's hearing.

          8                 I do have, and have included with the

          9  information that was distributed to you, some

         10  letters that were sent to me from our members, we

         11  conducted a series of meetings. I sent out a series

         12  of bulletins and I am sure there will be more

         13  letters coming in and I will forward them to you

         14  when they are available.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me make two

         17  observations so that clearly you don't leave here

         18  getting the wrong impression.

         19                 One, I need not be blinded based upon

         20  the time and the season that I understand, because

         21  you have been very consistent, last year and this

         22  year, and no doubt we know the membership you had.

         23  If you recall at last year's hearing you were well

         24  represented. And clearly, those who did testify

         25  brought that out.
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          2                 Our problem is that while this

          3  hearing was going to be in the morning, we had to

          4  change it to accommodate the potential transit

          5  strike, of which Council members were not exempt

          6  from whatever regulations were put into place, when

          7  it came to pool, car pool.

          8                 And even we would be turned away when

          9  I try to come from Williamsburg through the Brooklyn

         10  Bridge to Manhattan, because I drive by myself.

         11                 MR. HUNT: Mr. Chairman, I was

         12  prepared to walk here, if necessary.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine. But I

         14  just want to be clear that -- and in fairness, too,

         15  we are all prepared to do a lot of sacrificing in an

         16  emergency, but the fact is that it is not an excuse

         17  --

         18                 MR. HUNT: Yes, certainly. We

         19  understand.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: -- Because that

         21  was not the case last year.

         22                 Secondly, with respect to the

         23  impression that was left, I honestly, and I speak

         24  for myself, did not get that impression. And I don't

         25  think any of my colleagues did either.
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          2                 Let me just end by saying this:

          3  Clearly this is a controversial bill. Over here you

          4  are damned if you do, you are damned if you don't.

          5  There is always going to be a loser in this, and you

          6  are looking at us.

          7                 If we are going to appease some, we

          8  are not going to appease others. But if we did our

          9  legislative business that way, we should not be

         10  elected.

         11                 So, last year I had an open forum and

         12  hearing on a bill to do exactly what we are doing

         13  today, so no one can say, well, you cut a deal out

         14  or you -- you are acting upon something without any

         15  consultation.

         16                 I mean, clearly, it is impossible for

         17  any one of us to expect that every single person who

         18  should know be notified, gets notified.

         19                 Today's hearing, because there was an

         20  amendment, and I believe you did say in your bill,

         21  because you and I sat in a forum next door on this

         22  issue last year, and I was privileged, and if I

         23  listened to you and you listened to me, we were not

         24  too far apart.

         25                 MR. HUNT: Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay?

          3                 And I made a commitment to work with

          4  you, and I repeat that: We will not move on a bill

          5  without consultation with groups like Joe Spinnato,

          6  you know, you, Charlie Hunt, who represents a group

          7  of businesses. And today's hearing is exactly to do

          8  what we did today. And I said to you last year, and

          9  I say it again, any recommendations, and clearly

         10  there are some here that I, and I don't agree on all

         11  of them, but there are some that I really believe we

         12  can look at and work with you, but this is what

         13  these hearings are about.

         14                 So, whenever it is a decision to vote

         15  or move forward on a bill, people will not say that

         16  we did not consult and gave the public the chance to

         17  be heard, and that is what today is about. We are

         18  not voting on anything today. But it was an amended

         19  bill since last year, there were issues that you

         20  raised with me last year in the forum and I believe

         21  that, while not all, some were addressed in this

         22  amended bill. And as we move forward, that is my

         23  hope.

         24                 So, we will move forward, and your

         25  recommendations, although you put it in writing, I
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          2  assure you it is not just thank you, see you next

          3  time. We will look at it.

          4                 MR. HUNT: Mr. Chairman, I share that

          5  hope.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          7  McCaffrey.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

          9                 Let me just say, Mr. Hunt, we

         10  certainly have a similarity of views. I think on

         11  items such as the Quick Cure Component, so that that

         12  would be something that we would allow for, that

         13  error, that mistake, the broken piece of equipment

         14  to be remedied in a quick fashion and someone is not

         15  held out there, and certainly, we don't want to have

         16  someone who is going to be publicized for having

         17  received a violation, and corrected it in that

         18  prompt manner. I think we are both in agreement in

         19  terms of that and I think that helps considerably in

         20  that game from your comments and others and when we

         21  had the hearing over a year ago and so I think that

         22  that is a point well taken, and we would not want to

         23  see someone's publicized violation out there if they

         24  had in fact gone out and corrected the problem.

         25                 The issue in terms of the sign, it
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          2  becomes one which is not particularly attractive,

          3  and I agree.

          4                 MR. HUNT: By the way, this is the

          5  sign, the Health Department sign, and it is much

          6  more attractive.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: It is.

          8                 MR. HUNT: We are living with it. It

          9  is a regulation in our restaurants.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And if the

         11  issue is of terms of the size of the actual sign

         12  versus the point size of the print within that sign,

         13  that is something else. That is a large print

         14  because there are many individuals who don't have

         15  the greatest division. So there is some room for us

         16  to talk about possibly reducing the size.

         17                 MR. HUNT: Yes. If I might just add

         18  one further point in respect to the sign, and

         19  perhaps -- I am not an attorney and I don't draft

         20  legislation as a general rule, but the way I read

         21  the bill, it actually, the language of the bill says

         22  that the sign will be mounted on the door.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Correct.

         24                 MR. HUNT: I can just see that sign on

         25  21. I shudder.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right. But

          3  at the same time, on that size sign, which is

          4  somewhat smaller --

          5                 MR. HUNT: That sign, by the way, the

          6  Health Department regulation is half the size of the

          7  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right. And

          9  it says, however -- but it is going to say in large

         10  point passed inspection.

         11                 MR. HUNT: No, that's not what I -- I

         12  said I could live with that sign.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right. And

         14  if you are talking about the physical dimensions,

         15  that is one thing.

         16                 But if you are talking about the

         17  point size, someone could not read that from a

         18  distance whatsoever. And I would ask you if you

         19  could read this out there, you have probably read it

         20  --

         21                 MR. HUNT: That wouldn't be fair, I am

         22  memorized it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right. But

         24  the fact of the matter is someone could not read

         25  this at any sort of distance until you are standing
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          2  very, very closely.

          3                 MR. HUNT: There are people that

          4  couldn't read this, too, that are visually impaired.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Not quite

          6  as many in this category. But there is some

          7  compromise out there, and, yes, it may be a sign,

          8  but I have to tell you --

          9                 MR. HUNT: That sign is required to be

         10  mounted near the entrance in a conspicuous place.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I have seen

         12  in some of the premiere restaurants in California

         13  that type of sign, posted in that area. The fact of

         14  the matter is, for the public's good, yes there are

         15  still customers coming in. The public is going to be

         16  turned off by that type of sign, the product inside

         17  is not the best.

         18                 If folks are not going to be able to

         19  attract customers through the door so-to-speak,

         20  based upon their ambiance, their quality of the

         21  service, the food that they serve, the atmosphere,

         22  all of those factors on it then, quite frankly,

         23  business is in shaky --

         24                 MR. HUNT: Why is the sign necessary?

         25  I direct my point that --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I will give

          3  you a case in point, and the letters you provide

          4  give me the answer here.

          5                 In the letter from the gentleman at

          6  Cafe on the Green, he says we do not want to have to

          7  put a sign on our door stating that our premise is

          8  clean. Anyone who walks through our doors can tell

          9  right away it is clean and safe. That is his

         10  observation.

         11                 How many people walk through the

         12  doors and walk into the kitchen of a restaurant, and

         13  that is what the difference is here. The public has

         14  the right to know in the easiest form what the

         15  nature is of the premise they are going into.

         16                 Now, we can debate the size, and I am

         17  amenable as one of the prime sponsors, about a

         18  smaller point size in terms of that, but the public

         19  should know that with absolute ease. They should not

         20  be put through hurdles out there, as I said to the

         21  Commissioner before, and that is the easiest way.

         22                 If you ever had a circumstance, if

         23  someone goes into Lou Tess on the top side, or they

         24  go into a diner on the other side of the spectrum,

         25  in terms of the economic aspect of the industry, and
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          2  says can I see your inspection report. Have you even

          3  seen that while they are standing on line? Trying to

          4  get the host's attention to be seated if they don't

          5  have a dinner reservation?

          6                 MR. HUNT: The reason that that

          7  regulation that did exist was originally abolished

          8  was that nobody was asking, Councilman.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: That is

         10  precisely the reason, so that the public -- that was

         11  not a vehicle to inform the public. And this is the

         12  easiest way --

         13                 MR. HUNT: Certainly it was.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: No, it was

         15  not an effective way to --

         16                 MR. HUNT: The fact that the public

         17  really is willing to acknowledge that we have a

         18  Health Department that looks out for their best

         19  interests and provides them with safe places to eat

         20  and closes the ones that aren't, we take no issue

         21  with the bad guys, I told you that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: We don't

         23  want to burst your bubble, but the folks out in the

         24  real world there, they don't believe that. We don't

         25  want to burst your bubble, but they don't have that
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          2  confidence.

          3                 MR. HUNT: Well, I will tell you,

          4  there is enough of them that this last year in New

          5  York City has been probably the busiest year that

          6  the restaurants have seen in history.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

          8                 No, I understand that, but I am

          9  saying to you, in terms of the agency, the public

         10  doesn't have the confidence in the agency in this

         11  regard.

         12                 MR. HUNT: Then they have the

         13  confidence in the restaurants because they are

         14  flocking to them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right, I

         16  understand that, but quite frankly, they will

         17  continue to flock to them. They are flocking to them

         18  in California, the same thing, with the sign. And I

         19  understand you are showing the corruption issue and

         20  that is an appropriate concern and there are other

         21  mechanisms. But I think we are not that far apart in

         22  terms of this, and I think there are ways in which

         23  we can come together.

         24                 MR. HUNT: What I am illustrating is

         25  that the sign is already there, we don't need
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          2  another one.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: What sign

          4  is that?

          5                 MR. HUNT: The sign that the Chairman

          6  has in his hand.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: That is not

          8  posted anywhere for the public to --

          9                 MR. HUNT: It certainly is. If you

         10  look at the regulation that goes out with that sign,

         11  it is posted in a conspicuous place near the

         12  entrance of the restaurant.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: In the

         14  exact same way as liquor licenses are required, and

         15  with luck of specificity on it, that is the same

         16  type of language that is in the SLA regs. And you

         17  don't see that in any convenient location that

         18  someone can find. It is behind the bar, for example

         19  --

         20                 MR. HUNT: Most restaurants have it in

         21  their window.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: It is a

         23  distance away. So, if that is the case, then we are

         24  not talking about any great difficulty, just make it

         25  very simple so that the public can understand --
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          2                 MR. HUNT: But not on the door. Not on

          3  the door. The window maybe, not on the door.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And I am

          5  amenable to that, and the public location like that,

          6  if it says on the window, I'm fine, but someone has

          7  the ability to walk up to that location and to see

          8  that with relative ease, and if it is the window, I

          9  am amenable to the window, in places that they can

         10  see that way, I don't have a problem with that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me ask you a

         12  question, if this sign is posted on the window,

         13  which you have any objections to that?

         14                 MR. HUNT: That sign that you have in

         15  your hand? I have no objection.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It is called

         17  negotiations --

         18                 MR. HUNT: The past inspection sign

         19  raises the issue that Dr. Cohen raised, does that

         20  mean it is an endorsement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You know, please,

         22  let me tell you something, and Neal Cohen is an

         23  exception to the rule, but I must tell you, it is

         24  like his cockamamie excuse about corruption, some of

         25  us have been around government for a long time, and
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          2  I am not blaming you.

          3                 Corruption, I am not blaming

          4  establishment, I am holding government accountable.

          5  They are supposed to be the ones who are supposed to

          6  be protecting and carrying out the laws. So, please,

          7  I don't want to hear about Neal Cohen. You know,

          8  Neal Cohen gets instruction from the Mayor, I

          9  understand it, we will negotiate. I have a good

         10  working relationship with the Administration.

         11                 So, please, I am trying to find a

         12  middle road. I cannot at this point say to you a

         13  bill, and let me be blunt, with the prime sponsor as

         14  the Speaker, not Victor Robles, I happen to be a

         15  sponsor, so is Walter McCaffrey, there are other

         16  people that we have to discuss what has been in this

         17  hearing.

         18                 So, let me clear, nobody here right

         19  now can change this bill. You know why? Take a look

         20  at the bill, the first name is Peter Vallone.

         21                 MR. HUNT: Why isn't he here?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Come on, folks.

         23  Come on.

         24                 The point I am saying to you is, I am

         25  trying to understand some of the issues and see how

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            135

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  we can find the middle of the road.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mr. Hunt,

          4  what we don't understand, Mr. Chairman, if the

          5  inspection report that is out there says that you

          6  passed the inspection, is that not an endorsement on

          7  the restaurant? And is that sign that says passed

          8  inspection, not the synopsis of the report that is

          9  there? It is one in the same.

         10                 MR. HUNT: Are you going to issue that

         11  sign to everyone?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What do you mean

         13  by everyone?

         14                 MR. HUNT: Well, I brought this up in

         15  my testimony. The law goes into effect, the sign.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

         17                 MR. HUNT: That day, nobody has a

         18  sign.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: You are

         20  talking about the effect date?

         21                 MR. HUNT: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right. But there

         24  again, Mr. Hunt, is something and I look forward to

         25  it, it is those kind of things when dialogue is
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          2  important --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right, it

          4  is helpful.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That if you bring

          6  to our attention, I mean, again, these hearings are

          7  about to hear.

          8                 MR. HUNT: Fine. We are on the same

          9  page on that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And then we can

         11  more forward.

         12                 See, my problem, and I must say,

         13  other than Julia Harrison -- oh, I am sorry, Julia

         14  -- let me tell you what my problem is being a

         15  legislator. My six years in the Assembly, when I

         16  dealt with your group and other groups, and I see

         17  the gentleman who used to lobby me a lot and I was

         18  on the Committee on Commerce, which Roger Roebuck

         19  used to be the chair, may he rest in peace, you

         20  know, a lot of changes, a lot of suggestions. And we

         21  change based upon those suggestions.

         22                 Then when the bottom line came about,

         23  okay, now will you support the bill? No.

         24                 So, let me be clear, if there is not

         25  a middle of the road, we win some, lose some no one
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          2  is going to be happy, but I am not going to change

          3  legislation and then have people still against it.

          4                 Well, if you are against it, then you

          5  know what? You have to lobby. We need five votes in

          6  this Committee, and then we need 26 votes in the

          7  Council, to prevent any legislation from being

          8  carried out.

          9                 I am not going to spend my time

         10  listening to all of these recommendations, sitting

         11  here from 1:00 until 4:00 and who knows how long,

         12  last year the same thing, and then that is why I am

         13  listening to all of these recommendations and

         14  suggestions, and we will follow through in working

         15  with you, but when it is all said and done, my

         16  bottom line is, will you support it?

         17                 Now, you are not going to get 100

         18  percent bill that only accommodates your desire when

         19  we have other vested interests or interest that may

         20  not be in the industry, but they are the consumers.

         21                 MR. HUNT: Mr. Chairman, I didn't

         22  expect that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I just want

         24  to be clear because I am --

         25                 MR. HUNT: Nor am I going to tell you
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          2  right this minute that I am going to support this

          3  bill because I am not going to buy a pig in a poke.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Mr. Hunt, when I

          5  first met you I was clear, ask your friend who used

          6  to lobby me in Albany, I have been consistent, I

          7  haven't changed, I am a believer of understanding

          8  and try to accommodate.

          9                 My dilemma is, after 15 years in the

         10  City Council, and six years in the State Assembly,

         11  is some of us take and listen to what people are

         12  saying, and then when we work at amending or

         13  changing, if the position is going to be still

         14  against it, then I have a bill, my name is on it. I

         15  don't need to change it.

         16                 I just need to get five votes out of

         17  this Committee and 26 votes in the Council.

         18                 And I am going to say the same thing

         19  with the Commissioner when, you know, Matt, when we

         20  meet, the same thing. They are going to get some

         21  things that they want, but they are going to get all

         22  of it either. We are going to get some things that

         23  we want, we are not going to get it all either. That

         24  is what compromise is when it comes to --

         25                 MR. HUNT: And that is what good
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          2  government is all about.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, good. Then

          4  so long as we are on the same thing, then we are

          5  still doing the same thing we said last year to each

          6  other, I just want to be clear, and that is why I

          7  said, I didn't say what is going to be on it, I just

          8  said can you live with a sign like this? Then

          9  whatever comes about or decided is what we will

         10  negotiate, and it won't be just two to Tango - it is

         11  you, it is Peter and Joe, it is my colleagues,

         12  whoever, and I think the last count was how many

         13  members? You know, but we understand.

         14                 MR. HUNT: As long as we can talk.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. You will

         16  always get that from me.

         17                 Any other questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes, I do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         20  Clarke.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 I think our focus, Mr. Hunt, is on

         24  the public who eats in these restaurants and what

         25  they should expect. So, that we should not as
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          2  elected officials wait until we hear that there is

          3  an outbreak of hepatitis, Legionnaires Disease, food

          4  poisoning, salmonella, whatever it is. So, our job

          5  here is not to look at what I call the cache, your

          6  restaurants, all of which are good, maybe the only

          7  time I can come and have a meal there will be

          8  probably at Christmastime because I have saved

          9  enough money to come and have a good meal there. But

         10  I am also concerned about a restaurant, as we call

         11  them. You may not call them that. East Flatbush,

         12  many of which are coming up over night and you hear

         13  described what they are, and because I am a person

         14  who promotes entrepreneurship, want to make sure

         15  they can survive in the marketplace because they

         16  have enough of us to patronize them and for them to

         17  become successful, but I also want them to obey the

         18  same rules that your restaurants are obeying. But I

         19  also recognize that they don't have the same

         20  resource that your restaurants may have.

         21                 But bottom line, I want to make sure

         22  that any person who is coming from work tonight in

         23  East Flatbush and stops at Mike's for a dinner, got

         24  it from a clean place, and that for me is the bottom

         25  line. And that is what we want you to help us to
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          2  fathom out, not to saddle restaurants with

          3  unnecessary regulations, but I am a former Day Care

          4  inspector, and I know the day care centers, that I

          5  had to go monthly, because the minute I was not

          6  there, it was business as usual and I knew the ones

          7  I didn't need to go, because the directors, the

          8  Board of Directors have the pride in the place, and

          9  in the numbers of children that they serve, while

         10  others were about collecting the fees never to do

         11  what the rules say.

         12                 So, I am just telling you that there

         13  are those who are going to keep the rules who will

         14  go beyond what is expected of them and there are

         15  those who are not going to do it because they are

         16  cutting every corner to make the profits, and those

         17  are the persons, those are the restaurants that we

         18  need to protect the persons who go in there and get

         19  a meal. So, it is not about the establishment, it is

         20  about those who depend on the restaurant for a meal

         21  and to make sure that they don't get ill when they

         22  buy food because it is unsanitary.

         23                 So, if you could play ball, we could

         24  play ball, but apart from that, our job is to

         25  protect.
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          2                 MR. HUNT: That is our job too.

          3                 That is our job, too. And believe me,

          4  we don't just represent the high end restaurants. We

          5  have coffee shops, we have quick service

          6  restaurants, we have a few Mike's also, and we

          7  welcome the opportunity. One of my jobs is to help

          8  these operators understand the rules, know what

          9  their responsibilities are, conduct educational

         10  seminars to help them do their job, because as I

         11  said, that is our job too.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, thank you

         13  so much for taking the time to join us today.

         14                 Sung Soo Kim. And Richard Pak.

         15                 MR. KIM: Let me just explain the

         16  first impression we have. We spent around three

         17  hours around here. For two hours we had a strong

         18  impression that that two hours could be saved by you

         19  guys, City Council and Administration can talk to

         20  Administration, and I would like to suggest a third

         21  way to meddle through.  You have your own problem,

         22  from a point of view it is a serious problem, and

         23  the Administration has a serious problem in its

         24  implementation. So we would like to suggest a third

         25  way in our presentation.
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          2                 I have a gentleman next to me, Mr.

          3  Richard Pak. He is the President of the

          4  Korean-American Grocers Association, representing at

          5  least 850 people in the City of New York, and my

          6  name is Sung Soo Kim, I am the President of Korean

          7  American Small Business Center of New York. We have

          8  some Korean-American draw, it is not Texan draw, but

          9  we need extended time, not as much as Mr. Hunt's but

         10  around seven to eight minutes for each.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 Mr. Pak, go ahead.

         13                 MR. PAK: Good afternoon, Chairman

         14  Robles and Council members.

         15                 My name is Richard Pak, and I am the

         16  President of the Korean-American Grocers

         17  Association, a trade group that represents over

         18  3,000 Korean grocers in New York City.

         19                 I am also an owner of a deli business

         20  in Manhattan.

         21                 I am here this afternoon to testify

         22  on Intro 350-A, a bill that contains additional and

         23  more stringent inspection requirements regarding

         24  food establishments in New York City.

         25                 As it is currently written, Intro.
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          2  350-A will threaten the livelihood of the deli and

          3  salad bar and fast food business.

          4                 We strongly oppose the additional

          5  inspection requirements imposed on food

          6  establishments that would be added onto the current

          7  health codes. This bill fails to provide the fast

          8  food salad bars with any fairness or process.

          9                 I am very proud of the deli food

         10  establishments in New York City. They contribute a

         11  lot to the food culture and ordinary culture of this

         12  great city. These businesses provide fresh food and

         13  a variety to a million citizens per day. It is a

         14  service that we are proud to render to the people of

         15  New York with fair price and convenience.

         16                 These delicatessens also provide many

         17  jobs in the City. A deli can hire two to three

         18  employees, up to 20 to 30 employees per store, and

         19  there are more than 700 stores currently in business

         20  in Manhattan alone. Additionally, we contribute a

         21  lot of tax revenue and help the economy of the City.

         22                 This Bill will destroy the deli and

         23  salad bar fast food business. There are many special

         24  circumstances concerning the deli business that the

         25  drafters of this bill did not consider or chose to
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          2  ignore.

          3                 Usually, deli salad bar

          4  establishments make food in the morning and then

          5  displays the completed product to the customers for

          6  approximately three to four hours on the food tray.

          7  This makes the temperature requirement imposed by

          8  the bill impossible to attain. There must be a

          9  change in the bill regarding the temperature of

         10  salad bar items; for example, a grace period of time

         11  where the temperatures may vary or a reduction in

         12  the temperature requirement.

         13                 There are various other special

         14  business circumstances that the City Council members

         15  are not aware of especially in the deli salad bar

         16  business. These circumstances must be taken into

         17  consideration when creating such a bill that

         18  threatens the livelihood of so many small

         19  businessmen.

         20                 Since the bill allows a business to

         21  closure, it will force many of these delis into

         22  bankruptcy. A deli salad bar must display its food

         23  to the customer to have business, yet, this would

         24  make it impossible to comply with this proposed

         25  bill. Intro. 350-A will destroy the deli salad bar
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          2  fast food business. The bill is totally unfair and

          3  something must be done about it.

          4                 One way for the bill to be fairer is

          5  for the bill to change the temperature requirements

          6  for deli salad bar. A temperature requirement that

          7  is fair and within a delis power to closure of

          8  business to a different governing body, separate

          9  from the agency that issues the violation. Perhaps

         10  an arbitration panel. There would be no due process

         11  if the agency that issues the violation also had the

         12  power to closure of business, which is a matter of

         13  life and death for these establishments.

         14                 I pray that you understand the

         15  dilemma that this proposed bill presents to deli

         16  owners like myself. Our businesses not only do a lot

         17  for the City's economy, but also are a large part of

         18  this City's culture. Do not destroy a part of this

         19  proud City's heritage with this unfair legislation.

         20                 Thank you for your time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Wait. Because in

         22  fairness to us, let me just say, sir, and you said

         23  it to the right person, so let me just go through

         24  this.

         25                 This bill is not putting any new law,
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          2  regulations that are not currently the Department of

          3  Health regulation. It is the Board of Health who

          4  sets the Health Code, so let's be clear about that.

          5                 And with all due respect, you know,

          6  it was on television with these salad bars and fast

          7  food businesses and you have to understand, we are

          8  not changing nothing. The bill codifies what the

          9  current health law says. So, if you want to change

         10  it you got to go see the Board of Health.

         11                 But let me just say so you

         12  understand, when you talk about culture - I was born

         13  in Puerto Rico, Fajardo Puerto Rico. I was raised

         14  here in New York. Let me tell you what cannot be

         15  cultural, and I am for culture.

         16                 When I go to Puerto Rico and I go

         17  from the airport to Fajardo, which you have to go

         18  through Route 3, which is the 65th infantry road

         19  named after Puerto Rican veterans who gave their

         20  lives to defend this country, all along the side in

         21  Puerto Rico you will find my -- I don't want to say

         22  my constituents, but my cultural brothers and

         23  sisters who roast pigs out on the roadway and does a

         24  lot of things that maybe in Puerto Rico you can do

         25  it, but in New York City, and a City with 8 million
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          2  people, you can't do it, and that is because our

          3  Health Code is different from maybe the cultural

          4  from where we come from.

          5                 So, I want to be clear on that. We

          6  don't legislate solely on culturally, we respect the

          7  culture, we try to work with the culture, but this

          8  is about health, and it is health experts, which

          9  could be a rainbow of different people from

         10  different cultures who set this, so I want to be

         11  clear.

         12                 The temperature issue is not being

         13  done by us. That is the current law by the Board of

         14  Health, and all we are doing is codifying it. So, I

         15  want to be clear on that.

         16                 Okay, sir.

         17                 MR. KIM: Okay, Council Member Robles,

         18  because time is passing I would like to brief out my

         19  statement.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The

         21  recommendations.

         22                 MR. KIM: Right. But please be

         23  advised, I wrote very sincerely with basis on

         24  statistics and experiences, but I will just bring up

         25  some major points.
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          2                 I have an impression that this bill,

          3  as you said, is nothing but codifying the existing

          4  Health Code, fine, but in many aspects I will bring

          5  up later, this is something very serious, especially

          6  thinking of the around 5,000 food service

          7  establishments, including 1,100 Korean-American, the

          8  restaurateurs and the food and salad bars, I think

          9  this is a very very -- it can be worked out, very,

         10  very dangerously in the level of administration, and

         11  that is what I am worrying about, first of all.

         12                 I don't have to specify all of the

         13  problems existing in the administration. You did a

         14  good job in asking so many questions to the

         15  Commissioner on the hearing and I had a very same

         16  feeling with you regarding the matters.

         17                 It means that this administration,

         18  you are trying to, you are just like inconsistent,

         19  this Administration is very inconsistent and there

         20  are so many flaws going on.

         21                 For example, as you know, my members,

         22  one of the members, they applied for license, after

         23  two years, for two years there was no inspection at

         24  all. In the meantime, one of the members got the

         25  eighth time inspection in two and a half months, and
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          2  we call this inconsistent. Something should be

          3  rectified. Not only for that. If you see the

          4  enforcement levels, we have an ethnic group called

          5  chimche, pickel, the hot pepper --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, I was

          7  stationed in Korea for 13 months, I know what that

          8  is, believe me.

          9                 MR. KIM: Up to 115, the Health

         10  Department issued a violation for chimche, they say

         11  that this is a poison. But we live for 5,000 years

         12  with this "poison". It means you need a serious

         13  consideration of ethnic food variance.

         14                 As Ms. Councilwoman Clarke mentioned

         15  about that, this is all about the Administration.

         16  So, my association goes full force, first of all --

         17  let me just bring up one more thing. If you see any

         18  three violations, as Mr. Hunt mentioned, this is

         19  very, kind of a mistake, this used to be repeated -

         20  one careless violation one time, after five days

         21  surprise inspection and then three days later you

         22  come here.

         23                 So, in eight days you can close this

         24  store, right? Padlock the store if you find the

         25  violations. But any three violations--
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Not if you

          3  listened to the Commissioner. I showed you where

          4  there were numerous times and yet, of the number

          5  that they quoted, then finally I forced them like a

          6  dentist to pull the teeth out and they said 51 were

          7  closed, okay.

          8                 MR. KIM: So, this kind of problem you

          9  should be very carefully aware of. So, any three

         10  violations, three times leading to, I estimate it is

         11  700, yes, around $3,000 to $5,000 fines, and

         12  padlocking, you will kill the Korean community. We

         13  can survive this. So, you should be careful.

         14                 My position, first of all, I don't

         15  think, I don't know, if you want to codify this

         16  bill, Intro. 350-A of our Health Code, fine, but

         17  don't give a reckless toy to the enforcement. Don't

         18  kill the innocent frog, you know, kill some fish,

         19  okay? This kind of unexpected problem will come.

         20  Especially if you are hit, fast food, because we are

         21  by its nature very vulnerable to various kinds of

         22  charges, violations.

         23                 There are 79 violations in all, any

         24  inspector can come and he will find five or six and

         25  then he will go back and what is the result? As Mr.
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          2  Pak explained, these are very serious, a valuable

          3  piece of business, helping the City of New York's

          4  economy and we have a different culture, a different

          5  food culture. So, please be careful.

          6                 As the other people said, two time

          7  inspection, fine, and you just keep on talking,

          8  standing more than 15 minutes, about the signage and

          9  that stuff, but if you let it go, especially those,

         10  at least 5,000 fast food over 140 ethnic groups,

         11  ethnic fast food, these people will be in trouble.

         12                 So, I would really pay attention to

         13  it, and I am ready to submit all of the statistics I

         14  have gotten so far from the Korean community.

         15                 Number two, we would like to have at

         16  this moment a warning system. Up to 1996, City

         17  Department had a warning system. The first

         18  inspection you get a warning, and then after

         19  warning, banish or throw it away, or confiscate, and

         20  the second inspection, you reach a serious

         21  violation.

         22                 We are business men, totally

         23  responsible for ethics and regulations, os just let

         24  us know first inspections, violations because of the

         25  problem involving a technical problem, what I am
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          2  saying is very subjective, you should not at first

          3  glance give a violation or an NOV. So, we really

          4  want the City government to reinstate this warning

          5  system, a warning system first violation and two

          6  that remains.

          7                 Number three, we would like to have

          8  the City government seriously to consider to

          9  install, you don't lose any money, you don't need

         10  any new budget, the installation of ethnic food.

         11  This is the way you can minimize unnecessary

         12  victims, out of the enforcement, okay?

         13                 So this is the last thing, let me

         14  give you one last word.  In 1991, the Department of

         15  Sanitation -- Councilman, can I have your attention,

         16  please? I am sorry. Walter, Council Member

         17  McCaffrey, can I have your attention? This is a very

         18  serious piece.

         19                 In 1991, the Department of Sanitation

         20  allocated additional budget for intensive

         21  educational project for the sanitary code, all

         22  right? What happened this year? Did you see the

         23  Mayor's Management Report, that year the City issued

         24  the least summonses, you know, the numbers of

         25  summonses in the least. The City was so happy
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          2  because the City now shows the highest score for

          3  sanitation, cleanliness.

          4                 Think about this lesson, all right.

          5  Pick government, strong government. This is one

          6  solution, but it is not the panacea, it is not the

          7  whole solution.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: There are

         12  79 items, down to our bill, 26.

         13                 MR. KIM: But the rules and

         14  regulations, it is going to be --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: No, I am

         16  saying 26.

         17                 MR. KIM: That is on the critical

         18  items.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: If you look

         20  at these items here, this legislation addresses

         21  those items that everyone would say cannot be

         22  allowed to exist, even for a couple of days, without

         23  there being quick action to address them. And that

         24  is all we are talking about. We cannot go with the

         25  agency because we understand your point, that is why
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          2  it is only 26 items. And maybe it should be 25 if we

          3  go through the last administration --

          4                 MR. KIM: Councilman, just give me two

          5  more minutes to give a real picture of what could be

          6  in the future for us, okay?

          7                 Applying any three violations, you

          8  have 10 to three, out of 79. Commissioner and Mr.

          9  Edmund's director just told me that in terms of

         10  mouse dropping, if it happened again in Dunkin

         11  Donuts, as it did last time, the appearance of mouse

         12  droppings, it is not hazardous, it is not hazardous

         13  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I

         15  understand.

         16                 MR. KIM: But it is going to be

         17  hazardous pretty soon, then 23.

         18                 One inspection they found a low

         19  temperature, okay? The inspector comes and they use

         20  the metal by poking a fried chicken. Violation.

         21                 The second time it was corrected. It

         22  was five days inspection, it was corrected. But at

         23  this time the inspector found mouse droppings.

         24                 And fourth time they found mouse

         25  droppings but temperature came back. It comes within
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          2  eight days, so easily, it is a piece of cake, it is

          3  very, very dangerous, please.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: The other

          5  thing I was going to say, if you look at their list

          6  versus ours, and you compare them, we have taken

          7  out, what I agree with you, are items that should

          8  not be in there on the critical list.

          9                 To me, for example, what they have

         10  here is it says notice of the Board or Department

         11  mutilated, obstructed or removed. They consider that

         12  the same as serving contaminated food. I don't

         13  believe that, my colleagues don't believe it, nor

         14  the co-sponsors on this legislation. We have

         15  identified on our legislation, and I think if you

         16  compare them you will see that ours is better --

         17                 MR. KIM: Okay, fine.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: One final

         19  question, Councilman --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, Council

         21  Member.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I just want

         23  you to know, I serve also on the Council's Committee

         24  on Economic Development, and I am an avid supporter

         25  of small businesses, but I am also a person who has
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          2  to find a way of protecting the health of a person

          3  who cannot afford to go and sit in a big restaurant,

          4  but may go to a salad bar, and I want to make sure

          5  it is clean and it is sanitary, and that the food is

          6  appropriate that they are getting.

          7                 You know my district very well, and

          8  you know the variety of restaurants that are there,

          9  and I want to protect them as much as I want to

         10  protect the ones on Fifth Avenue, but I have to find

         11  an even balance and that comes with protecting the

         12  health of those persons who by, to keep them from

         13  any airborne disease. So, please know that we are

         14  not here to hurt, we are here to look at a balanced

         15  way of protecting all.

         16                 MR. KIM: Just one more last wish --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Wait. I want to

         18  be clear, because I set the tone as a chair and I

         19  want to be clear. And I started by saying I was born

         20  in Puerto Rico, and with all due respect, while we

         21  all, we are the sons and daughters. Immigrants and

         22  this is what the City of New York is all about, but

         23  where we come from and what our culture tradition we

         24  say about, well, 200 years of chinche, the point is,

         25  folks, this is America, and America has its laws. We
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          2  are the creatures of the state and the federal

          3  government and we locally cannot just simply change

          4  something because somebody don't like it because of

          5  their culture, and I want to be clear on that. I am

          6  willing to work with you and anybody else on

          7  addressing the health code, and how do we protect

          8  the people of New York City, and by the way, work

          9  with business people to understand what they go

         10  through, but they, nor I, nor we, are exempt from

         11  protecting the people of New York City when it comes

         12  to the Health Code, and I want to be clear on that,

         13  okay?

         14                 And, so, you can't ask me that in

         15  Korea, 200 years of Chinche, I can't even use that

         16  here in the United States saying culturally, and I

         17  want to be here on that.

         18                 So, let's deal with the issues and

         19  how we work with you to understand.

         20                 But I am going to be honest with you,

         21  Mr. Kim, and I have a lot of your business in my

         22  district, mouse traps are not acceptable in my

         23  district, period.

         24                 You said that somebody came and there

         25  were little mouse traps?
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          2                 MR. KIM: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Excuse me. My

          4  biggest complaint in my district is not mice, is

          5  rats. We all better understand that. This is about

          6  health, this is not about food. This is about

          7  health.

          8                 So, as we move along, I am willing to

          9  listen, but I am not going to give the impression to

         10  anybody that I am going to be part of violating what

         11  is law, or enacting or helping toward improving the

         12  quality of protection, i.e. health. So, I want to be

         13  clear on that one.

         14                 MR. KIM: Chairman Robles, I think you

         15  misunderstood me. We are not saying that we want to

         16  be waived from the regulation of food safety. What I

         17  was saying; for example, fried rice requires same as

         18  hot food, 140 degree Fahrenheit, you cannot run this

         19  business 140 degrees, so I made a petition to the

         20  FDA, USDA, that I have official record, they said

         21  scientifically it can go lower 132 degrees

         22  Fahrenheit this is what I am talking about variance.

         23  I am not asking --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Mr. Kim, just

         25  because you went in Washington, and let's start
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          2  again, we can't give you a variance --

          3                 MR. KIM: No, no, no.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Listen to me.

          5  Let's start again, sir. And maybe I am

          6  misunderstanding you, but let's be clear. We are the

          7  creatures of the state government. The state

          8  government is the creatures of the federal

          9  government. The reason my colleague Walter McCaffrey

         10  confronted the Department of Health on their saying

         11  one inspection per year when the federal government

         12  is recommending and they are in place, many of the

         13  states within the union has twice a year inspection,

         14  he was saying to him you are not being consistent.

         15  We are not changing the federal law. The

         16  recommendations says they are imposing twice a year.

         17                 So, I want to be clear, if the USDA,

         18  which oversees all of us, of the food that comes

         19  into this country, and the food that goes out of

         20  this country, and that says in certain foods it must

         21  be at a certain temperature, then you can't expect

         22  us to give a waiver because we don't have that

         23  right. We do not have that right.

         24                 MR. KIM: Council Member Robles, to

         25  repeat, I am not asking you waiving of the
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          2  regulation. I am asking variance. Variance means --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: This is not the

          4  Board of Standards and Appeals, sir. This is not a

          5  house where all of a sudden you go and through a

          6  variance you do what you want to do within the

          7  building but you don't change the zone. And I am

          8  trying to say to you, sir, with all due respect, a

          9  variance is the same thing as a waiver.

         10                 I am not aware, help me out, anywhere

         11  where we have the power to give a variance, or a

         12  waiver, because this is about health, this is about

         13  health code. And clearly, I am ready to deal with

         14  the bill and how we work with your industry. But

         15  let's be clear, I want to be clear on this. I am not

         16  lowering any standard that is in place right now.

         17                 That is why I am glad to say, as much

         18  as I don't want to agree with the Commissioner, I am

         19  happy that the number was about 21,000 restaurants

         20  they inspected, and out of that 265 I think was the

         21  number. Well, for me, the 265 is still too large.

         22  But if you compare the numbers they inspected, and

         23  only 200, I must say that at least if we keep

         24  consistent on what we have, like Mr. Hunt said, what

         25  we are talking about is the bad apple, and I am
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          2  learning to look at the bad apple. And I am not

          3  going to penalize the bushel and go after the

          4  global.

          5                 I see things in my district that I

          6  must tell you, I am not comfortable, but I

          7  understand. Because if they don't complain to me,

          8  and people don't come to me, I try to ignore it.

          9                 MR. KIM: Council Member Robles, I am

         10  sorry, as a record I hope you fully understand the

         11  concept I just brought. It is not exception.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         13                 MR. KIM: We are not asking any

         14  exceptions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         16                 MR. KIM: We are just asking to make

         17  variance which is allowed to practice by the

         18  administration.

         19                 My final wish, just give me one

         20  minute, my final wish, if it is feasible, I really

         21  wish the Council authority, especially your

         22  Committee, especially Council Member, Chairman

         23  Robles and Council Member McCaffrey who are the

         24  prime sponsor of this bill, to have, please open a

         25  couple of times oversight hearings, bring this
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          2  Commissioner Nelson down, please, and talk, talk,

          3  talk.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What do you think

          5  I do?

          6                 Excuse me, Mr. Kim.

          7                 MR. KIM: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: With all due

          9  respect, Mr. Kim, please don't. If there is a

         10  Chairman of a Committee and a Committee that -- I

         11  mean, last year in October we had a hearing on the

         12  original bill, and from that original bill and

         13  hearing there a forum, and many of the same people

         14  today made suggestions. Today we have an oversight

         15  which is what you are saying, I don't know about

         16  anybody else in this Committee, on the amended bill,

         17  some of the things that were recommended were

         18  amended.

         19                 MR. KIM: Yes, I know.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Maybe not 100

         21  percent. But if you have the impression that this

         22  Committee and this Chair moves in secret without

         23  public participation, then you have the wrong

         24  committee. That is why this bill, and I repeat, the

         25  reason why the Department of Health moved ahead
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          2  administrative through the Board of Health was

          3  because we were embarrassing them. And I will admit

          4  publicly, that while we were busy trying to

          5  understand and negotiation and hear this and hear

          6  that, they went to the Board of Health and most of

          7  what is now being discussed has been done by the

          8  Board of Health, which they should have done from

          9  day one.

         10                 Now, some people are happy because it

         11  is not twice a year, it is once a year. But the fact

         12  is, on record they said that close to 265 plus

         13  businesses are operating without a permit, that is

         14  not your fault, that is not Mr. Hunt's fault, that

         15  is not Joe Spinnato's fault, that is the

         16  Commissioner of Health, that is what we are trying

         17  to do. And because we don't know what the future

         18  holds.

         19                 We want to make sure that whoever

         20  becomes Mayor cannot tingle with it. It will be law.

         21  And if you don't carry out the law, we will go into

         22  court like we have done more than once to challenge

         23  anybody, regardless of who the Mayor may be. I think

         24  that is what we are trying to do.

         25                 Some of us who are not going to be
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          2  around after the Year 2001, or at least 2002, do not

          3  want to leave behind for the next generation or the

          4  next administration. We have gone through that same

          5  cycle that is your frustration. So, please

          6  understand where we are coming from.

          7                 All right.

          8                 MR. KIM: Chairman Robles?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes.

         10                 MR. KIM: Let me finish up, I will

         11  just take a minute.

         12                 The point of view is, I hope you

         13  understand, we do not oppose this bill, we strongly

         14  propose this bill, but we would like your concern in

         15  fairness and the due process. Our prime concern is

         16  protect the public health, yes, that is our main

         17  concern, but there is some difficulty which is the

         18  role which should be fair and more due process.

         19                 Such as, the inspector comes to the

         20  establishment, and they get the first inspection, we

         21  would like to know, what is the problem on my

         22  premise, they like to point it out, it is violation.

         23  But when they come, the second inspection, first

         24  inspection we had the violation we cured it, and

         25  when they come second inspection, they bring it up
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          2  all of a sudden other issues. They do not educate

          3  enough for our people.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me make sure

          5  I understand what you are saying to me.

          6                 MR. KIM: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because again,

          8  Mr. Kim is correct, this Chair and this Committee is

          9  tired of seeing Neal Cohen, because we have had him

         10  more than once on other issues.

         11                 At our last hearing they gave us

         12  this, and correct me if I am wrong, they also said

         13  that after they get finished, the establishment gets

         14  a copy and in the back it cites what the violations

         15  are.

         16                 Now, what is the problem?

         17                 MR. KIM: My problem is, what they

         18  get, enforced inspection, yes, they pointed out the

         19  problem, there is a critical problem and general

         20  problem.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

         22                 MR. KIM: Okay. We at grace period, we

         23  cure that problem, that should be passed on the

         24  second inspection. But all of a sudden a different

         25  inspector comes a second inspection, which is not
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          2  same standard, and second inspector bring up another

          3  problem there. So, where is our grace period, and on

          4  second inspection they going to close down the

          5  place.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say

          7  --

          8                 MR. KIM: What I am asking, at the

          9  first inspection we like to know what is the

         10  problem, what they wanted, so we have time to cure

         11  that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: May I suggest

         13  both to you as the overseer of your -- and let me

         14  say that this bill, and correct me if I am wrong,

         15  unless you have a food establishment groceries are

         16  not included in this bill. Let me be clear about

         17  that. The bodegos, the small mom and pop --

         18                 MR. KIM: Grocery stores, because they

         19  make sandwiches there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Are salad bars

         21  considered groceries?

         22                 MR. KIM: No.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Excuse me, I am

         24  making a point. Groceries are not part of this bill.

         25                 Now, if you handle food, whether it
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          2  is a restaurant, or a fast food service, of course

          3  it applies to the Health Code, so I want to be

          4  clear, the grocery stores selling milk, eggs, this

          5  doesn't apply.

          6                 Now, as the President of the

          7  Korean-American Grocers in New York, and Mr. Kim, as

          8  the Korean-American Small Business Service Center of

          9  New York, may I suggest the following, so long as I

         10  am the Chairman: I suggest you should get with Jose

         11  Orengo, and you start documenting when inspectors

         12  come, and let us start seeing what are the

         13  violations against your establishments. Because if

         14  there is a pattern that we need to look at, this

         15  Committee is prepared to step in.

         16                 But in the absence of not knowing

         17  what the problem is, because, again, as I understand

         18  it, the serious problem, especially the real ones,

         19  they will close you down regardless, but others that

         20  they -- what was the terminology they used for

         21  violations? You have the serious ones and you have

         22  the minor ones, it is my understanding that you have

         23  a certain time period to correct those violations,

         24  and if you show that it has been corrected, then I

         25  need to see when the inspector comes back to
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          2  reinspect, and if they find same violation based

          3  upon the work that you corrected, then you are

          4  right, I need to look at that.

          5                 Now, if they come back, and by the

          6  way, there is another one, and they find something

          7  different, but yet it goes back to this issue about

          8  corruption or at least if they know someone is going

          9  to be reading these things and there is a checks and

         10  balance and groups like Mr. Hunt and Mr. Spinnato

         11  and, you know, Councilman, would you look at this,

         12  because it may be harassment, then I am ready to

         13  look at that. But that has nothing to do with the

         14  bill.

         15                 But you all as leaders of your own

         16  respective groups must learn to communicate with

         17  those of us who are willing to work with you, which

         18  has nothing to do with the law, okay?

         19                 So, make sure you get Jose Orengo, I

         20  suggest you start documenting where you believe you

         21  are being harassed, or you don't understand what the

         22  violations are, and I repeat, we will look at it.

         23  And if the violation that was cited was corrected,

         24  still they are pursuing you, then that is something

         25  I would look at.
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          2                 But now if they found another

          3  violation that they didn't pick up the last time,

          4  but the tendency is it is really about harassing, I

          5  am ready to do something. But if someone woke up on

          6  the wrong side of the bed and went and found

          7  something and overlooked something, then somebody

          8  else which is a different person comes in and

          9  finally picks it up, you know, I can't say they are

         10  wrong, I don't know. Let me look at it.

         11                 So, I say to you, in the same way I

         12  want recommendations, please on health violations

         13  and the Department of Health, not the federal, the

         14  state, then I suggest you deal with Jose Orengo.

         15                 MR. KIM: I understand. Respectfully I

         16  agree, but I am not talking about using harassment,

         17  but the point is, they are not saying standard.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me tell you

         19  something, as far as I am concerned, there is one

         20  standard. And I was in the service, like I said, in

         21  Korea, for 13 months and in the service I learned

         22  one thing: No one is above the law, no one is

         23  beneath the law. If they have a policy, that policy

         24  will apply to you, to Mr. Kim, to Mr. Hunt's

         25  Association or to Joe Spinnato. I don't play that
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          2  game. There is only one standard.

          3                 And if we see that they are having a

          4  different standard, I will go after them and I need

          5  you to help with me.

          6                 MR. PAK: Well, we would like to ask

          7  for some kind of education system, because a lot of

          8  my members, they bought the store, they don't have

          9  no education at all, so we would like to send them

         10  education --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, let me say

         12  that the President, both you and Mr. Kim, if you

         13  would like me to arrange where perhaps once a year

         14  in a membership of your members, like restaurants do

         15  it now, and they are not waiting upon the Health

         16  Department, you hear what he said, that they,

         17  themselves, have their own classes where they help

         18  their own members, to walk through the process, but

         19  in the event you would like us to get the Department

         20  of Health at least once a year in a general

         21  membership, not a complaint session --

         22                 MR. PAK: I understand that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But an

         24  educational session, then I am ready to do that. But

         25  it is not for complaints. It is to be educated on
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          2  the law, okay?

          3                 MR. PAK: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 MR. PAK: Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: John Mulvey, Mark

          8  Nealon, and is Michael O'Neal here? Okay, why don't

          9  you come up also, sir. Because those were the last

         10  three that I have.

         11                 Let me say I want to thank you. I

         12  know it has been a long day and I appreciate the

         13  fact that you stayed behind. I understand there is a

         14  demonstration, but I wasn't going to end the hearing

         15  just because of demonstrations, and I want you to

         16  know that you may be last to speak, but I appreciate

         17  the fact that you still stayed behind. And I hoped

         18  you understand that because this Committee does not

         19  just do hearings just for the sake of being on the

         20  record.

         21                 So, having said that, why don't you

         22  identify yourself for the record.

         23                 MR. NEALON: I appreciate that.

         24                 My name is Mark Nealon. I am

         25  associated with the New York Restaurant Association,
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          2  Manhattan Chapter, and I also own and operate a

          3  restaurant consulting business.

          4                 I had the fortunate opportunity to

          5  have been a New York City Health Inspector a number

          6  of years ago, and as of 1993 been operating my own

          7  consulting company, so I have seen both sides of the

          8  fence.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And now that you

         10  said that, I think you were here last year, too.

         11                 MR. NEALON: I was not here last year,

         12  I did meet in your office though.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine.

         14                 MR. NEALON: In fact, if this Intro is

         15  a result of last year's meeting, I am sorry that I

         16  missed it, because it must have been something, a

         17  sight to behold.

         18                 I would say, I would like to just

         19  point out something that hadn't been mentioned yet

         20  as a result of point by point that I have noticed

         21  from my experience with the Health Department and

         22  also on the private sector.

         23                 First off, regarding permits, the 21

         24  day period was originally New York State Sanitary

         25  Code, it is still in there, in fact. That was a
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          2  result of a plan review. In other words, before you

          3  open a restaurant in the City you had to submit

          4  sketches, Building Department plans, diagrams. Proof

          5  the business is allowed to operate there, proof that

          6  the basement is not used for food prep, if it is not

          7  permitted to be done so by the Building Department,

          8  Fire Department.

          9                 A number of years ago when the plan

         10  unit review was absolved and basically the

         11  application for permit was given to the City

         12  licensing center, the 21-day period kind of didn't

         13  mean the same thing that it used to mean, and the

         14  reason why it was written into the code in the first

         15  place. Because if you take away plan review, then

         16  obviously there are no plans to review.

         17                 What I have a problem with, and dare

         18  I say, the majority of restaurants that are applying

         19  for new permits today are not places that, a

         20  building on a corner somewhere and built a

         21  restaurant from scratch. These are places for tax

         22  reasons, corporate reasons, change of ownership,

         23  member of an organization passes on or sells there

         24  in the corporation, for these reasons, any time a

         25  corporation name has changed, there must be a permit
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          2  application submitted to City licensing center and a

          3  new Health Department permit issued.

          4                 That being said, I feel it is unfair

          5  that a restaurant that may have been operating under

          6  the same management for 10 years, 20 years, however

          7  long, would have to now close their doors for 21

          8  days for a plan review that doesn't exist, and for a

          9  management system that hasn't changed, the d/b/a may

         10  not have even changed, the restaurant for all

         11  intents and practical purposes has stayed the same.

         12                 That is an issue that hadn't been

         13  brought up and it was something that caught my eye

         14  when I first saw that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, but you of

         16  all people should know this. Again, the bill that is

         17  before us has nothing to do with that, our laws that

         18  kick in when either change, ownership or what have

         19  you -- I am sorry, I am not a lawyer and I am a

         20  little lost right now because you really caught me

         21  off guard. I don't know what you are talking about,

         22  and this was an issue that has never been brought up

         23  before, and maybe I need to be enlightened, maybe

         24  not now but maybe we can pursue it.

         25                 I just don't know how that kicks into
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          2  this.

          3                 All I know is one thing, when the

          4  issue was discussed with me and your association

          5  last year, clearly one of the complaints was that a

          6  person who wants to open up a business serve notice

          7  on the Department of Health or provided all the

          8  proscribed documentations, then the Department of

          9  Health must come out to inspect the place within 21

         10  days. And the complaint that I heard last year was

         11  that many of them who really are honest and want to

         12  do, you know, and move forward, that 21 days came

         13  and gone and the Department of Health did not come

         14  to inspect.

         15                 And, so, on the 22nd day, rather than

         16  physically close, many of them will continue to

         17  operate until that is what the Board of Health Rule

         18  says, until the Department of Health comes out and

         19  actually does that.

         20                 So, I am a little confused.

         21                 MR. NEALON: Let me use an example

         22  first.

         23                 Mike and I own a restaurant together,

         24  our Corporation is ABC Corp, okay? I decide to get

         25  out of the business, he changes the corporation
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          2  name, he redoes the books, I am now out of -- I own

          3  no shares in the stock, I now have taken my name off

          4  of the corporate books. He now changes his name in

          5  the corporation to XYZ corporation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

          7                 MR. NEALON: He now, even though we

          8  have been in business, and the name of our

          9  restaurant is 123 restaurant, and we have been

         10  operating that for 20 years, he now has to close his

         11  restaurant for 21 days because as a result of this.

         12                 I don't think that is very fair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But I don't think

         14  that is imposed by the Department of Health. I

         15  believe that that is -- and, again, I am not a

         16  lawyer and I need to look into this, I really

         17  believe that has to do with incorporations and

         18  incorporations and stocks and all of that stuff,

         19  which has nothing to do with the Health Code.

         20                 MR. NEALON: Well, in fact, if he is

         21  found operating ABC Corp, he is subject to a $2,000

         22  fine the first time of automatic closing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That is because

         24  he is not legal. I mean, I need this is a legal

         25  question.
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          2                 MR. NEALON: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It has nothing to

          4  do with health and this bill, and I repeat, I may be

          5  wrong, I hope I am wrong, but I have been around

          6  here long enough. Look, I have businesses in my

          7  district, and for whatever reason, I am not even

          8  going to give a negative reason, let's stay on the

          9  positive side, I have seen corporations dissolved

         10  based upon the tax purposes. What does that have to

         11  do with the Department of Health in terms of the

         12  Health Code of making sure that that business

         13  conforms to all of the Health Code regulations.

         14                 So, let me look at that, that is an

         15  area, and I just don't really believe this has

         16  anything to do with this bill. So, let me look at

         17  it, or let the lawyers look at it and then I will

         18  get back to you on that.

         19                 MR. NEALON: Okay.

         20                 Let's see, moving down the list, as

         21  far as inspections go, the reason why I feel that

         22  the five-day and three-day reinspection period may

         23  not be fair, is that it doesn't allow for a due

         24  process of the restaurant owner.

         25                 Now, when he cited with the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            179

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  violation, the code specially says that the hearing

          3  cannot be held at least until 15 days has passed.

          4  This is his due process, he can present evidence, he

          5  can gather witnesses if he needs to, he can repair

          6  things and get invoices for such. You take that away

          7  when you implement an eight-day repeated inspection

          8  over the course of eight days. What troubles me even

          9  more than that is the way we determine who gets

         10  reinspected and who doesn't. I can honestly say that

         11  if this bill were to pass tomorrow, no restaurant

         12  that gets inspected tomorrow would pass. And that

         13  the whole passed inspection sign to me is a moot

         14  point because nobody passes the inspection on this

         15  criteria. If you look at restaurant inspections

         16  across the country, there is some type of grading

         17  system or some type of passing to a degree or

         18  failing to a degree where here it seems that, and I

         19  can look to the 26 violations that are highlighted

         20  in this bill, and say that if I have a cracked floor

         21  tile, I just failed my inspection, or if I have a

         22  dirty wall, and if the inspector comes in at 1:00 in

         23  the afternoon in the middle of a busy lunch service,

         24  where it is illegal for me to clean my wall, he is

         25  going to find a dirty wall, and I just failed my
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          2  inspection and now I am looking at a third

          3  inspection and possible closing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: All right, we

          5  will look at that, because I think the message is

          6  clear, and I saw the expression of Council Member

          7  McCaffrey when it was raised, we will look at it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: It is

          9  really misinterpreted. Folks are not interpreting

         10  this correctly.

         11                 This is there for the benefit of

         12  folks to have the violation corrected. If you don't

         13  want to have that in, we are happy to take it out,

         14  and once you get here with the violation, you have

         15  no quick cure, you cannot correct it, you will get

         16  hit with the summons.  On the basis of the first

         17  time, if your refrigerator was broken, tough luck.

         18  You are not going to be able to correct that

         19  violation. That is what that is here for.

         20                 MR. NEALON: Well, correct me if I am

         21  wrong --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I am

         23  correcting you.

         24                 MR. NEALON: But the law is saying

         25  that if a violation is found, then I am going to be
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          2  issued a notice of violation.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And if such

          4  violation has not been corrected, okay? So that is

          5  what it is talking about. That is the language. It

          6  gives you the opportunity to correct the violation.

          7  That is the time frame we are putting in there. To

          8  meet our needs from the public safety point of view,

          9  but at the same time it gives the business the

         10  opportunity to end up correcting it. Because we

         11  think that is reasonable.

         12                 If, for example, an employee has not

         13  covered the food or something of that nature,

         14  properly, or there was a problem with the hot water

         15  and it is corrected, then the violation is not going

         16  to be out there hanging you up on it. That is what

         17  that is. Not that you are coming back on a second

         18  time and you get a notice of violation issued, it is

         19  a chance to correct the violation. So, if folks

         20  don't want that in, you can take that out, it is

         21  there for the benefit of the industry though.

         22                 MR. NEALON: Well, I mean, if you used

         23  -- the way I look at it also, the way the system is

         24  devised right now, and the Commissioner has

         25  testified to this, if my restaurant is inspected and
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          2  there are three deficiencies and we can even call

          3  them critical violations, now if they are imminent

          4  health hazards, obviously they would have had to

          5  have been corrected, otherwise my restaurant would

          6  have been closed on the spot, I am subjected to an

          7  administrative hearing where fines will be levied,

          8  but I am not subjected to a reinspection. In other

          9  words, the inspector will actually tell me that I

         10  passed the inspection, they feel that the violations

         11  don't warrant a reinspection, don't warrant an

         12  immediate closing, don't warrant any publication of

         13  any kind, the way the system, the way the law --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Wait. Let me make

         15  sure -- please. You are not going to be closed,

         16  because the only way, according to what Commissioner

         17  Cohen just said, if you have to be closed on the

         18  spot they will close you. And if you notice on this

         19  testimony, even when you finally admitted that 51

         20  restaurants were closed, look at how long it took

         21  before they even decided to close it.

         22                 So, please, let's stick to the issue

         23  about what is it you wanted us to look at, because

         24  right now, I am telling you right now, the

         25  impression I am getting from this testimony, they
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          2  are not really closing the restaurants, okay?

          3                 MR. NEALON: Some of the numbers that

          4  were raised that were almost shocking to me is, and

          5  I had a lot of time to sit and ponder what I was

          6  going to speak about.

          7                 But I wanted to say, you know, did I

          8  miss something? Are there a higher number of deaths

          9  or higher number of food-borne illnesses that have

         10  been reported to warrant -- you know, the

         11  Commissioner himself has said, and his Deputy

         12  Commissioner, who has no aspiration to be a Deputy

         13  Mayor, said that they received approximately 700

         14  complaints on food poisoning cases of which about 20

         15  are substantiated, okay? In New York City, with the

         16  number of people and the number of restaurants and

         17  the number of meals served, if we are so concerned

         18  with the help, and excuse me, with my well-being, I

         19  have a better chance of dying getting struck by

         20  lightning than to die from food poisoning.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand.

         22  Please. Please. Please. Listen. I want you to hear

         23  it from the horse's mouth, and I am the Chairman. If

         24  you ask me right now about this bill I would pass

         25  it, you know why? Even if you had one restaurant
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          2  that violates the law, I don't think that

          3  restaurant, with all due respect, is doing you

          4  justice. Because my experience in life, and I am 54

          5  years old, is when you get away with it, if you

          6  start with one, three months from now you have two

          7  restaurants, then you have three and before you know

          8  it -- see, my problem is, while I agree that the

          9  global number after 15,000 I think he said, when

         10  only I think the number was 4,000 or 1,400, whatever

         11  it is, but 1,400, tell the person who got sick, they

         12  don't want to hear that. So, I am not holding you

         13  accountable for that, I am simply saying to you, why

         14  don't we get back to the issue of what is it you

         15  want me to look at, and don't worry about closure,

         16  because if I read his testimony, okay, and I wanted

         17  to be a bureaucrat, I am not happy with what he

         18  said, but I am not going to let that stop me from

         19  trying to negotiate and come up with a meaningful

         20  bill that will at least accommodate everyone's

         21  concern and not 100 percent.

         22                 My dilemma is I don't believe we

         23  should leave it alone without stature. Because that

         24  is why if there was abuse -- this cockamamie excuse

         25  about how is it going to cost us, I don't care what
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          2  it costs us, we are spending $20 million in police

          3  overtime alone just for a parade, in my

          4  neighborhood, it is more important to protect their

          5  health than say thank you, Yankees, when they want

          6  to throw us out of the Bronx. Do you understand

          7  where I am coming from?

          8                 So, I want to understand the

          9  rationale, but let's deal with your concerns.

         10                 So, for example, again, 51

         11  restaurants closed, now these were not restaurants

         12  that they came out, and like you said, they were

         13  serious immediately and closed, he said I think 51

         14  of those, out of a total number. But then if you

         15  listened to his testimony, look at how many times

         16  they had to come back or how many times they had to

         17  violate it, even though they were given the chance,

         18  and you know what? They had a hearing, because if

         19  they found a violation, there is an administrative,

         20  not by the Environmental Protection Board, but by

         21  the Department of Health itself. They have their own

         22  administrative hearings. So, let's go back to what

         23  is it you want me to focus on?

         24                 MR. NEALON: Well, we can focus point

         25  by point or the whole scope, because I can flip the
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          2  coin around and say, you know, the 21,000

          3  restaurants that didn't get anybody sick are saying,

          4  well, why are you going to fine me $3,000 per

          5  violation when I didn't get anybody sick? And why,

          6  if I have a cracked floor tile in the bathroom or

          7  the hot water heater room, why am I now --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: That is not

          9  under the legislation. You have to read the

         10  legislation.

         11                 Tell me where on the list of 26 it

         12  talks about a cracked tile?

         13                 MR. NEALON: Letter S, Damaged or

         14  Dirty Floors.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Dirty

         16  floors.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Damaged or dirty

         18  floors.

         19                 MR. NEALON: I think any inspector

         20  would interpret damaged floor as a cracked floor

         21  tile.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: If you want

         23  us to end up specifying that, please, we will deal

         24  with the quibbles in terms of that, yes. But that is

         25  not what we are talking about here in terms of this.
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          2                 We are talking about folks out there

          3  who are not responsible. You folks are the

          4  responsible ones. You have nothing to fear, okay?

          5                 Unless there is someone out here who

          6  is damaging the public health.

          7                 MR. NEALON: I will tell you, I am not

          8  perfect and if you come to my restaurant in the

          9  middle of lunch service and you find food that is

         10  out of temperature for 15 minutes, I am not shocked

         11  by that, it is not going to get anybody sick, but it

         12  is an imminent health hazard by definition and --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And we give

         14  you the opportunity, next time in that time frame to

         15  show that that is not your standard practice. And

         16  you are off the hook.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You said you

         18  worked for the Department of Health before. Was that

         19  as an inspector?

         20                 MR. NEALON: Yes, correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Tell me

         22  something, what you are saying to me now, and when

         23  you worked for them and you went out there, were you

         24  as flexible to understand the same concerns you have

         25  now?
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          2                 MR. NEALON: When I started I was

          3  probably the worst inspector out there. I was told

          4  and it was drummed in my head that every restaurant

          5  owner is a liar, a cheater, they are going to try to

          6  bribe you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Here is my point,

          8  because I cannot legislate morality, I cannot

          9  legislate conduct, I can try to set the tone.

         10                 For example, Mr. Hunt raised an issue

         11  last year and he bought a video this year. Now, with

         12  all due respect, if Los Angeles is having the

         13  problem that we have here once, and I go back to my

         14  contention, if there was corruption by health

         15  inspectors because of the failure of the agency to

         16  properly supervise them, to do that we can't worry

         17  about money. And you know, it just blows my mind,

         18  because Walter and I were around here when we were

         19  under budget constraints, and we were cutting

         20  agencies. This agencies was one of those agencies

         21  that got seriously cut and affected, like Parks

         22  Department. Do you know we are in the surpluses now?

         23  The last four years. We have a surplus that we

         24  passed the budget and we haven't even dealt with the

         25  surplus yet.
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          2                 So, for them to argue the cost -

          3  nonsense. If we can find, not that anyone discussed

          4  with us how much it is going to cost us for the

          5  Yankee Parade, and we are going to do a budget mod

          6  pretty soon that I will be you it will be at least

          7  $20 million only for the Police Department in

          8  overtime -- well, excuse me, Mr. Hunt, you had your

          9  chance. So, if we need to hire more inspectors, we

         10  are not going to hire inspectors without the

         11  supervision. That is what is wrong.

         12                 So, I am trying to understand the

         13  issues, so as I negotiate, as I said, we haven't met

         14  with them, of course I didn't meet with them. Did

         15  they tell me they were going to do half the things

         16  that we have asked in this bill when they were not

         17  doing it, and not to be embarrassed, they went to

         18  the Board of Health and did it? I am not knocking

         19  them for that. But that wasn't done because of the

         20  generosity, that was done because this Committee and

         21  this Chair, in the two years I have presided, I have

         22  held accountable the Commissioner of Health, who

         23  under our charter is the chief health officer. He is

         24  the health advocate. He is supposed to set the tone

         25  on the direction of health in this town, not HHC,
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          2  not mental health, he. So, at least in the two years

          3  that I have been the Chair, I think I have gotten

          4  him now to start addressing health issues, as the

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 So, I am willing to do that, but I am

          7  not going to live with the past. I learn from the

          8  past. Corruption? I am ready to deal with it. I am

          9  ready to put any mechanism for checks and balances

         10  to make sure, and among them, you have to have

         11  supervision. It is not mentioned -- well, it is in

         12  our bill, because we have a tendency around here

         13  that whenever it gets hot, and when the media

         14  exposes you guys, and I don't mean you, the

         15  industry, not just restaurants, but that is why I

         16  went after the last two, because only two weeks ago

         17  there was a big thing on these fast food and salad

         18  bar things. Come on, folks, I am not blind. Then

         19  what do we do? Well, the Department of Health will

         20  hire maybe ten or 20 inspectors and then sit there

         21  and says, oh, we have 119, in a City of 8 million

         22  people, 119 inspectors. We have almost, what was it,

         23  20,000 restaurants? Do you think 119, which are not

         24  full-time just for restaurants, is enough? Now, some

         25  of us sit back and keep quiet.
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          2                 So, I am ready to listen to what the

          3  concerns are, and among them, if we pass this bill,

          4  whatever the bill is, of course we are going to have

          5  to add to the budget for inspectors. Of course we

          6  are going to ask about a training program, which I

          7  believe you discussed with me. There are things that

          8  I am keeping in the back of my mind. Folks, please,

          9  work with me to understand what the issues are,

         10  because we move along, again, I can't get

         11  everything, but I am going to try to accommodate and

         12  to understand the needs of everybody.

         13                 But Council Member McCaffrey, like

         14  myself, okay, we have problems in our district. You

         15  see, the sad part is, the problem that I find, I

         16  don't hang out in restaurants in Manhattan. I don't

         17  even hang out in restaurants in Brooklyn. But I see

         18  the local restaurants that may be culturally, like

         19  Mr. Kim said, which if you were in Manhattan you

         20  would be closed down, and I know that.

         21                 It's been a long day, let's move on.

         22  Why don't you finish. I apologize. Go ahead.

         23                 MR. NEALON: Well, I will end and I

         24  will pass it to Mike O'Neal, just on the note that I

         25  am not here to sing praises of the Health
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          2  Department. I have issues with the Health

          3  Department, but, you know, I do think that it speaks

          4  volumes that they have confirmed 22 poisoning cases

          5  within the course of one year in the City of New

          6  York. I think that speaks volumes not just for the

          7  Health Department, but for the industry.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine. But I am

          9  telling you that as a layperson who got elected here

         10  15 years ago, okay? If one of those 22 or one of my

         11  constituents, try to explain to them that we have an

         12  industry of 20,000 restaurants, and 22 people got

         13  sick, for them they got sick and I can't blame them

         14  for that. I have to be just as concerned with the

         15  22, even though I have not said anything negative

         16  against the industry. I have not said that. But

         17  let's not just shun aside 22 cases, because I don't

         18  even know how serious those cases were. But if I was

         19  the affected one, and I was a legislator and I got

         20  sick, do you think this bill, this bill is liberal

         21  to what -- I would be so furious and you would

         22  really see a real -- and forget about compassionate

         23  republican, this will be a real conservative bill.

         24                 I am trying to understand the issues,

         25  can we just move along?
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          2                 MR. NEALON: Of course the 22 that

          3  have gotten sick are feel badly that they were the

          4  ones that got sick, but I mean the big picture is

          5  that, you know, the system is not falling apart and

          6  in need of a huge revamping. I mean, the system on

          7  the whole works, and the numbers prove it.

          8                 So, yes, if I was one of the 22, I

          9  would not feel good about it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         11                 Mr. O'Neal, I apologize. Go ahead.

         12                 MR. O'NEAL: Okay. Well, a lot of what

         13  I wanted to say has been said, I have a statement

         14  here, and I just want to say a couple of things

         15  before we move on. I am sorry you are the only one

         16  left, nobody else wanted to hear what I have to say.

         17  You know, that is not what I do for a living, I am

         18  in the restaurant business and I spend my days and

         19  you guys do this for a living and where the hell are

         20  you? I am talking about the total of empty chairs

         21  there. And I have spent now four hours --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And for the

         23  record, you were here last year, too, correct?

         24                 MR. O'NEAL: Yes, I was. I am here

         25  because I have a great interest in the restaurant
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          2  industry.

          3                 Let me tell you, I don't want to hear

          4  any more stuff -- what bothers me about a lot of

          5  this stuff that you have been saying, Mr. McCaffrey

          6  has been saying, it seems like you are after Mr.

          7  Giuliani. You know what, I am a liberal democratic

          8  from the upper west side, I will be damned if I give

          9  a crap about Mr. Giuliani. Don't take it out on my

         10  industry because you don't like Mr. Cohen, Dr.

         11  Cohen. I just think that is wrong for us. It is

         12  going to kill us. It is really not good. And that

         13  bothers me.

         14                 And what the Yankees cost - that has

         15  nothing to do with hiring more health inspectors.

         16  Come on, give me a break. And Mr. Vallone, who

         17  happens to be I think a friend, if he sponsors this

         18  bill I am going to go and talk to him personally

         19  because I don't think this is a good bill.

         20                 Let me just read what I have to say

         21  and I will leave out some of it.

         22                 My name is Michael O'Neal. I am one

         23  of the principals of the restaurant, O'Neal's

         24  Restaurant in the West 79th Street Basin Cafe.

         25                 I have been a restaurateur in New
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          2  York City for 36 years, and have been active in the

          3  City, State and national restaurant associations.

          4                 Last spring I took and passed the New

          5  York City Health Department Food Handlers' Course,

          6  as well as the Serve Safe Course.

          7                 I will just tell you this because I

          8  have been around for awhile. When I first saw this

          9  proposed legislation, I thought my dear friends in

         10  the City Council had taken leave of their senses.

         11  Last week the Restaurant Association had a meeting

         12  at my restaurant to discuss the matter. The feeling

         13  was unanimous. It was the most poorly thought out

         14  set of regulations we have ever seen. Now that was

         15  when they had in the thing 48-inch sign on the front

         16  door, well, you changed that, okay.

         17                 We are not on the brink of a serious

         18  food poisoning outbreak. This is not the

         19  encephalitis outbreak of last summer. We have a

         20  wonderful restaurant as attested a few minutes ago,

         21  of cleaned restaurants in New York City. I don't

         22  know if any of you remember the Health Department

         23  scandal. Now, we talked about this, but I remember

         24  that and I am sure you do too. These guys were put

         25  away, the inspectors had a license to steal. Any
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          2  restaurant worker, and I am talking about my

          3  employees, whether he was a steward or a chef, would

          4  do anything not to get on that dirty restaurant

          5  list. If he was responsible to keep the restaurant

          6  clean for me, as the boss, if he had to give the guy

          7  50 bucks, and I am not saying my guys did it, but

          8  some people were doing it. I am telling you the

          9  corruption was there. These inspectors were making

         10  30,000, 40,000 dollars a year, maybe in those days

         11  it was even less -- you were talking about you won't

         12  be here in 2001, well maybe I won't be here either,

         13  but let's not put something that is going to corrupt

         14  this industry or corrupt this City again.

         15                 Of course, if they had an imminent

         16  health hazard, something really important, they

         17  would write it up. But I will tell you, you can find

         18  violations in any restaurant. Many of those

         19  inspectors are in jail today. Like I said, I don't

         20  want to put the temptation in the present

         21  inspectors.

         22                 And we could talk about it being a

         23  Health Department problem, but it is a problem that

         24  was there and I saw it and I am glad it is over. It

         25  was caused basically by the dirty restaurant lists,
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          2  and that was because nobody wanted to be on that

          3  list, for whatever reason.

          4                 I had an inspection yesterday, just

          5  to change the subject slightly, and I had two

          6  violations. One was I had a busboy cutting the bread

          7  and he didn't have his gloves on, rubber gloves.

          8  Okay, we threw out all the bread. Then also the

          9  chopping block that he was chopping on was dented.

         10  Now, that is subjective. Maybe it wasn't as bad as

         11  somebody might have thought, one inspector might

         12  have seen that and one inspector might not. I don't

         13  know whether that is on the bad list or not. But I

         14  mean, I passed my inspection, I am glad, and I have

         15  a big restaurant.

         16                 In New York City if you run a big

         17  restaurant, you always have to be on the alert

         18  against unwashed hands, rats, roaches, dirty knives,

         19  temperature is too tepid or hot too fast. There are

         20  a thousand procedures that a restaurant manager must

         21  know to keep a place running properly. It is a

         22  constant battle to serve good, healthy food, and I

         23  think we do a great job.

         24                 There are over 19,000 restaurants in

         25  New York City, and of course we have talked about
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          2  this. We are one of the largest employers of women,

          3  teenagers and minorities. There are 160,000 workers

          4  in New York City that work in the restaurant

          5  industry. We are an entry level business, and for

          6  that reason we have more ethnic residents, and Mrs.

          7  Clarke can speak to that, than any place in the

          8  world. It is where people come, we have great

          9  combinations of restaurants. And by the way, my son

         10  just moved to Williamsburg, I don't know if he is in

         11  your district or not, so I want him to pick out some

         12  restaurants for you to go to.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Most likely he

         14  must be in Ken Fisher's district. By the waterfront.

         15                 MR. O'NEAL: All right. If you really

         16  want to help us, and here is something I really

         17  believe in, expand the educational process, and when

         18  a restaurant is found to have too many violations,

         19  require them to have some or all of their management

         20  team take the Food Handlers' Course. I just think

         21  that is better than fining us. It is positive, it is

         22  proactive. Use your inspectors to educate the

         23  employees.

         24                 Yesterday when my inspector came in,

         25  he spent 30 minutes writing up the thing. He could
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          2  have spent 15 minutes going to employees and saying,

          3  hey, you know you should cut without your gloves on,

          4  you shouldn't use bread without your gloves on. He

          5  didn't say that, he just wrote it up. We found out

          6  about it later.

          7                 He could have said, you know, you

          8  should be using knives wiped off in a Clorox

          9  solution. You know, he could have helped out. He

         10  could have done, 15 minutes he could have done

         11  something.

         12                 Another problem is there are not

         13  enough properly trained inspectors.

         14                 Now, you talked about this, we should

         15  hire inspectors, but the inspectors that we have, it

         16  is my understanding that New York City is the only

         17  large city in the country that the inspectors are

         18  not certified, and I found this out from Mark. I

         19  don't know exactly what that means but it seems to

         20  me they are certifying inspectors in Los Angeles and

         21  in Chicago that we ought to have certified

         22  inspectors. There are 119 inspectors and we have to

         23  get 240. Who is going to train them? Where do they

         24  come from? Most of them don't even have biology

         25  degrees, they just have college degrees, most of
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          2  them. So I am not sure that is going to happen.

          3                 I say if we have to get two

          4  inspections a year for 19,000 restaurants, and I am

          5  in favor of having more inspections, I am not

          6  opposed to that, I just say where are we going to

          7  get the people to inspect us?

          8                 Another fact that I found out the

          9  other day was that you guys had not consulted the

         10  Health Department. Well, I found out today that

         11  there is a great problem between you two, which

         12  upsets me as a citizen and a taxpayer, why the hell

         13  doesn't the Health Committee deal with the Health

         14  Department every day? I don't get it.

         15                 Anyway, if you are going to write a

         16  bill, please consult some experts. He is an expert,

         17  he really is. He knows what he is talking about. I

         18  suspect there are some people in the Health

         19  Department that have been there since John Lindsay,

         20  David Dinkins, you know, going way back.

         21                 Anyway, once again, the restaurant

         22  industry is one of the largest employers in this

         23  City, 160,000 workers. The bill threatens the

         24  people's jobs and the restaurants' reputations. I

         25  think you will do a great disservice to those good
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          2  people, and you will threaten the City, and it is

          3  the greatest City, the restaurant city in the world,

          4  and will do it great harm.  I think it is time you

          5  went back to the drawing board.

          6                 Mr. McCaffrey is not here, he would

          7  have issue with that, I am sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you. Let me

          9  just, because I am never loss for words, let me just

         10  say this: You are absolutely right, and this

         11  Administration and I attempted to understand it

         12  because I was a young kid when John Lindsay was

         13  Mayor and Republican, and I must tell you that of --

         14                 MR. O'NEAL: Well, he was a democrat

         15  later, you know.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, that is why

         17  he lost. And he lost because he had to change his

         18  party affiliation because they felt he was not a

         19  republican.

         20                 The point is that I personally feel

         21  that one of the best Mayors we have ever had that I

         22  felt was in New York City was John Lindsay, I want

         23  to be clear on that. Whatever he ran for, I

         24  supported him, okay?

         25                 MR. O'NEAL: I did too.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I had to

          3  understand that we have a new administration with a

          4  new philosophy, but sometimes that philosophy gets

          5  carried away, and there are times where they have

          6  this way of doing things.

          7                 MR. O'NEAL: I agree with you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And then there

          9  are things that are happening today, like in my own

         10  back yard right now with the collapse of that

         11  building, that if, and I am not alleging or saying,

         12  anyone who lives there knows there is a double

         13  standard. So, it is not a clash. You see, when I

         14  first came here to City Hall, a commissioner can

         15  speak to me. I need not go through any office or

         16  through any Mayor's Office because that was the

         17  relationship you were expecting, that is not the

         18  case today, sir. So, it is not a clash, it is that

         19  people don't set the agenda.

         20                 The legislative body is supposed to

         21  be independent and that is the checks and balances

         22  that government was formed.

         23                 Second, sometimes you need to do

         24  things to get them to get off and finally come to

         25  the table. But Neal Cohen and I have a fantastic
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          2  relationship, and I got upset because if anyone

          3  talks to Neal Cohen on a daily basis, I do.  But I

          4  don't need to tell the world.

          5                 MR. O'NEAL: It didn't seem like it,

          6  let me tell you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, let me tell

          8  you, when he tells me and says in front of me, and

          9  which is my point, if he communicated more with me

         10  on the things he did as an agency, I will be the

         11  first one to expose all of the goodness he does and

         12  all of the good things he does. And it was recently

         13  because I confronted him that now I even get the

         14  press releases from his own agency. We didn't even

         15  get that.

         16                 So, I want to be clear. But we heard

         17  you. We will work with you.

         18                 MR. O'NEAL: Okay. And that is another

         19  thing, let's not react to the press.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We are not.

         21                 MR. O'NEAL: Come on.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No, we are not.

         23  We are not.

         24                 MR. O'NEAL: They dropped that story

         25  because nobody cared. It was not a good story.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You have to

          3  understand, sir, and appreciate, there are 50

          4  members elected to this body, and not everybody

          5  works the same, and unfortunately, for some of us,

          6  we were cultivated that the New York Times was the

          7  thing, so you have noticed everybody walking with

          8  the New York Times. Well, in my area I don't read

          9  the New York Times, because you know why? It is the

         10  Post, it is the Daily News, but I don't knock the

         11  New York Times, and I don't jump because editorials

         12  neither.

         13                 But you do have 51 individual members

         14  who get elected, and you know what? They have their

         15  own agendas. But the fact is, I am trying to be

         16  reasonable. This bill could have been passed

         17  already. It has been two years, a year since we met,

         18  and I repeat, these hearings are about to hear what

         19  I am hearing today. It is not because we don't want

         20  to work with anybody. It is not because we don't

         21  have a good relationship with the Commissioner. But

         22  I must tell you, and I say it to you like I told Mr.

         23  Kim and everybody else, nobody sets my agenda. And

         24  if the Speaker feels I am not doing my job as the

         25  Chairman who appointed me, then he will relieve me.
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          2  But I take serious my responsibility as the Chairman

          3  of the Health Committee, and I will tell you that a

          4  lot of health issues were not being addressed, not

          5  by this administration, but by previous

          6  administrations.

          7                 The Department of Health became the

          8  stepchild and there were serious cuts into that

          9  agency, so unfortunately in two years I am trying to

         10  bring it back to what you perhaps may have thought

         11  it was at one time, and I also knew it was, and that

         12  is what I am trying to do, and unfortunately we have

         13  too many issues outstanding, and then these things

         14  come in along the way.

         15                 So, I want to again thank you, and

         16  let me just say, if you note there are empty chairs,

         17  at least you are on Crosswalks and then the world

         18  will see you on Crosswalks.

         19                 I see no more business before my

         20  Committee --

         21                 MR. O'NEAL: It is like the Internet,

         22  you know, can you find it?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I must tell

         24  you, where I come from, we know Crosswalks very

         25  well.
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          2                 MR. O'NEAL: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I close these

          4  hearings.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 5:08 p.m.)
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